EI 106

ACTA POLYTECHNICA SCANDINAVICA

ELECTRICAL ENGINEERING SERIES No. 106

Macro Element Method for Modelling Eddy Currents in the Multi-conductor Windings of Electrical Machines

ÁRON SZÜCS

Helsinki University of Technology Laboratory of Electromechanics FIN-02015 HUT, Finland

Dissertation for the degree of Doctor of Science in Technology to be presented with due permission for public examination and debate in Auditorium S4 at Helsinki University of Technology (Espoo, Finland) on the 9th of November, 2001, at 12 o'clock.

ESPOO 2001

Szücs, Á., Macro Element Method for Modeling Eddy Currents in the Multi-Conductor Windings of Electrical Machines, Acta Polytechnica Scandinavica, Electrical Engineering Series, No. 106, Espoo 2001, 88 pp. Published by the Finnish Academies of Technology. ISBN 951-666-582-9, ISSN 00010-6845.

Keywords: Eddy currents, finite element methods, machine windings, macro elements, skin effect

Abstract

The computation of the magnetic field in electromagnetic devices - especially rotating electrical machines - usually excludes the effect of eddy currents in the multi-conductor windings. Eddy-current losses are frequently calculated from a magnetic field solution in which the effect of eddy currents is not considered. The aim of this research has been the development of efficient methods to consider the effect of eddy currents in multi-conductor windings accurately within electromagnetic field computation. There are methods, which take the effect of eddy currents on the magnetic field into account in multi-conductor windings but all those approaches have serious drawbacks. Analytical formulations lead to very complicated models while numerical analysis leads to enormously large problem size for many conductors or in small penetration depth cases. The thesis suggests a novel combination of the elimination of inner nodes method with the conventional finite element technique. Based on the magnetic linearity of the winding regions the creation of numerical macro elements is suggested. The Gauss elimination of the nodes inside the finite element model of the multi conductor winding resulted in significantly decreased problem size and in accelerated solution of the system of equations in the nonlinear iteration process. The new macro element method, has been developed by the creation of constant macro elements for the duration of the whole time-stepping analysis. The macro element method has been verified with test computations and it is found to be faster in nonlinear problems and it requires significantly less memory than the traditional approach. The advantages and limitations of the method are presented in this thesis.

© All rights reserved. No part of this publication may be reproduced, stored in a retrieval system, or transmitted, in any form or by any means, electronic, mechanical, photocopying, recording, or otherwise, without the prior permission of the author.

Preface

This thesis is the fruit of a research project conducted in the Laboratory of Electromechanics, Helsinki University of Technology. The purpose of the work has been to develop methods, which are capable to model eddy-current effects in multi-conductor windings efficiently. Such windings can be found in rotating electrical machines and in other electromagnetic devices like transformers.

After thanking God, I have to mention the help I have received from many people who have helped me to complete this thesis.

I would like to express my gratitude to my supervising professor Tapani Jokinen, head of the Laboratory of Electromechanics whose help and guidance made the start, development and completion of this work possible. Without him the fruits of this work would have never been born.

I owe a debt of gratitude to professor Antero Arkkio whose door was always open for discussions, which were crucial at many stages of this research. I would like to thank Dr. Juhani Tellinen, professor Asko Niemenmaa and Julius Saitz for the valuable conversations which helped me to overcome many obstacles.

I wish to thank all the members of the laboratory whose names are not mentioned here for the kind atmosphere and help in every day life.

Last but not least I would like to thank my loving wife Szandra and our little children Borbála and Márk for their patience and support during this work, together with my father Pál for his inspiration to research, my mother Mária, and brothers Benedek, Márton and Gergely.

The financial support of the Academy of Finland, Teknillisen Korkeakoulun Tukisäätiö, Imatran Voima Foundation and the SIL foundation is deeply appreciated.

Espoo, September 2001

Áron Szücs

Contents

Abstract	2
Preface	3
List of principal symbols	6
1. INTRODUCTION	7
1.1 MATHEMATICAL MODELLING OF EDDY CURRENTS	. 10
1.1.1 Analytical computation	. 10
1.1.2 Numerical analysis	. 10
1.1.3 Combined numerical - analytical analysis	. 11
1.2 SUMMARY	. 12
1.3 AIM OF THE WORK	. 12
1.4 STRUCTURE OF THE WORK	.12
2. OVERVIEW OF EDDY-CURRENT COMPUTATION METHODS FOR MULTI-CONDUCTOR WINDINGS	17
2.1 ANALYTICAL METHODS TO CONSIDER EDDY CURRENTS	20
2.2 NUMERICAL METHODS TO CONSIDER EDDY CURRENTS	22
2.2.1 Finite element analysis	. 23
2.2.2 Conclusions of the finite element subchapter	. 27
2.2.3 Boundary element method	. 27
2.2.4 Conclusions of the boundary element subchapter	30
2.3 COMBINED NUMERICAL AND ANALYTICAL ANALYSIS OF EDDY CURRENTS	. 30
2.3.1 Conclusion of the combined analysis chapter	. 32
2.4 Conclusions	. 33
3. FINITE ELEMENT MODEL FOR THE ANALYSIS OF EDDY CURREN	TS
IN MULTI-CONDUCTOR WINDINGS.	. 34
3.1 THEORETICAL BACKGROUND	. 34
3.1.1 Matrix structure	. 36
3.1.2 Observations about the system matrix	. 37
3.2 CONCLUSIONS	. 37
4. VERIFICATION OF THE FINITE ELEMENT MODEL FOR MULTI- CONDUCTOR EDDY-CURRENT PROBLEMS BY COMPARISON TO	
MEASUREMENTS	. 38
4.1 Measurement in linear media	. 39
4.1.1 The eddy factor	. 40
4.2 MEASUREMENT IN THE PRESENCE OF IRON	. 40
4.3 The test object	. 41
4.4 RESULTS OF THE MEASUREMENTS	. 42
4.4.1 Eddy-current effect measured from electric properties	. 43
4.4.2 Eddy-current effect measured by thermal properties	. 44
4.5 SUMMARY	. 44
5. ELIMINATION OF INNER NODES IN THE MODELING OF EDDY CURRENTS IN MULTI-CONDUCTOR WINDINGS	46

5.1 Elimination of inner nodes 5.2 Expectations about the effect of elimination	46 47
5.3 METHOD OF ELIMINATION IN THE SOLUTION PROCESS 5.3.1 The suggested construction of the eliminated system of equations 5.3.2 Mathematical validation of the method	48 50 51
5.4 REALISATION OF THE ELIMINATION METHOD 5.4.1 Methods for pre-processing	53
5.4.2 Construction and handling of eliminated matrices 5.4.3 Programming structure 5.5 SUMMARY	55 55 56
6. RESULTS OF THE ELIMINATION OF INNER NODES	57
6.1 METHOD TO EVALUATE THE EFFECTIVENESS	57
6.2 TEST SAMPLES	57
6.3 RESULTS - THE EFFICIENCY OF THE ELIMINATION	59
6.4 EVALUATION OF THE RESULTS	61
6.5 CONCLUSIONS	63
7. MACRO ELEMENTS IN THE FINITE ELEMENT ANALYSIS OF MUI	LTI-
CONDUCTOR EDDY-CURRENT PROBLEMS	64
7.1 THE FINITE ELEMENT FORMULATION FOR THE MACRO ELEMENT APPROACH	64
7.2 THE NOVELTY OF THE MACRO ELEMENT METHOD	64
7.2.1 The creation of a macro element	03 66
7.3 Optimization of the filmination sequence	00
7.4 DISCUSSION ABOUT THE MACRO ELEMENT METHOD	68
7.5 CONCLUSION	69
8. ADVANCED UTILIZATION OF MACRO ELEMENTS	71
8.1 THE STRUCTURE OF THE SYSTEM OF EQUATIONS WITH MACRO ELEMENTS	71
8.1.1 Recovery of variables inside the macro elements	73
8.1.2 One elimination of the system matrix during a whole time stepping anal	ysis
	73
8.1.3 Remarks concerning the system structure and matrix inversion	73
8.1.4 Macro elements and sub-structuring	74
8.2 TEST CASE	/4
8.3 REDUCED MEMORY REQUIREMENTS BY THE USE OF ADVANCED MACRO ELEMENTS	75
0 TEST COMDUTATIONS WITH THE MACDO ELEMENT METHOD	76
9. 1 THE DESITING OF THE TEST COMPUTATIONS	70
9.2 DISCUSSION ABOUT THE RESULTS	78
9.3 Conclusions	79
10 CONCLUSIONS	80
REFERENCES	82
NUNI ICA DIONG	

PUBLICATIONS

List of principal symbols:

Scalar variables are denoted by plane letters. Boldface symbols are used for vectors.

A	vector potential
Α	z-component of A , approximate solution for
	the vector potential field
B	magnetic flux density
С	specific heat
D	electric flux density
E	electric field strength
Н	magnetic field strength
Ι	electric current
J	current density
Р	power
S	integration surface
U	voltage
ε	permitivity
η	logical operator with values: 0 and 1
μ	permeability
$\mu_{_0}$	permeability of free space
V	reluctivity
δ	skin depth
σ	conductivity

1. INTRODUCTION

Increasing demand for accurate computation methods

Electrical machine designers and researchers in the industry face increasing demand to consider many physical effects more accurately, when they give birth to the next generation of electrical energy converters, such as electrical machines.

Industrial competition and the desire to increase efficiency has always inspired the engineers and researchers to design electromagnetic devices with higher power densities. In order to achieve this task, classical techniques in machine design have been applied for decades and the simple analytical and empirical formulations have been perfected to their limits. Later with the arrival of the "digital age", cheap, fast and reliable computers have come to life and they brought with themselves the possibility to perform computationally very heavy tasks in a short period of time. Machine designers started to rely on their computers and used them to perform designs with their analytical and empirical methods fast and elegant.

Today the need for more sophisticated computational tools has become transparent. Although analytical and empirical tools still provide the basis for the designs, in many cases they alone are not sufficient any more, and in increasing number of new designs, some of them are hardly applicable. Another example; new technologies and demands – such as inverter load and special working conditions, like in case of high speed, high power machines – represent an unsolvable challenge with the old tools.

Numerical methods such as the finite element method (FEM) applied in the electromagnetic design of electrical machines have been present in the industry for some time now. However the real daily use of FEM techniques by design engineers in big machine companies, is becoming a common practice only recently. The finite element (FE) modeling of the electromagnetic properties of electrical machines has become a basic tool. It is expected to boom in the next few years as faster and more user friendly commercial computation tools become available for machine designers. Many engineers condemn these new tools saying they are too slow and too complicated compared to traditional methods. However a couple of engineering "disasters", like unexpected harmonics, which could have been eliminated by a simple numerical analysis, become very convincing arguments. Accurate numerical analysis

can also reduce manufacturing and material costs by eliminating "too safely, over designed" parts with the increased accuracy of the models.

Efficiency optimization of rotating machines and transformers is a very important task. A successful optimization of the efficiency requires high accuracy, when predicting the losses. The better we can calculate the losses, the higher the quality and reliability of the optimization. In the followings, the emphasis is placed on rotating electrical machines, but most of the observations can be applied to transformers and other devices as well.

The increased demands require an improved knowledge of the electromagnetic phenomena, including the effect of eddy currents. Eddy currents can contribute to the normal operation of electrical machines, but they can also be harmful by causing additional losses. The proper analysis of eddy-current effects and the losses dissipated in the windings of electromagnetic devices is the major objective of this thesis.

In electrical machinery, we can recognize two major kind of harmful eddy currents with respect to their place of appearance. Eddy currents induced in the iron core usually limited by the lamination - and those induced in the winding of the machine. This work is focusing on the eddy currents flowing in and between the conductors of the windings. In laminated windings, eddy loss originates from currents circulating within and between strands. Usually the later can be totally eliminated by following certain design rules like the most well known Roebel bars method. The eddy currents flowing in the strands are classically limited by choosing small enough dimensions for the geometry of the conductors with respect to the skin depth which depends on the operating frequency and the material parameters. The use of such filamentary conductors increases the price of the winding and thus the machine significantly. There are also cases when this approach is not appropriate for example filamentary conductors are not applicable in high voltage machines. In such cases when the selection of filamentary conductors is not allowed, or it is not clear what will be the advantage and effect of their use it can be necessary to model the winding in details, to study carefully skin and proximity effects. Such study can also highlight consequences of the eddy currents like the heat up of the conductors exposed to high eddy current density for example those closest to the air gap in rotating machines, or local heat spots in transformers.

Consideration of eddy currents in multi-conductor windings is a classical but still a recent and exciting research topic. There are plenty of multi-conductor applications in electrical machinery and devices where the proper calculation of eddy currents is sorely needed for a prosperous design. The most classical problems are connected with the design and optimization of the windings in transformers and in rotating electrical machines. There are also new technologies such as high-speed high-power machines, which highlight the importance of the eddy-current effect in the windings.

The effect of eddy currents is traditionally neglected in the windings when solving the magnetic field, and eddy-current losses are calculated from a field solution which was gained by neglecting the effect of them. This kind of approach has its limitations and should be used carefully. One should see it clearly if the effect of eddy currents on the magnetic field can or cannot be ignored. Sometimes it is difficult to tell it in advance especially in the presence of nonlinear magnetic materials and in special transient problems. However if the amount of high frequency components of the field are known to be small in advance the computation the Faraday law might be neglected. When it is ignored, skin and proximity effects are not considered in the field computation.

Classical electrical machine design defines the geometry of the conductors in the windings in such a manner that skin effect should be limited. This purpose is superb but the applied tools to reach it are usually poor. Classically the geometrical parameters are determined by empirical formulae, which can be applied only for certain well-known designs. These formulae do not help when studying essentially new constructions.

1.1 Mathematical modelling of eddy currents

In order to avoid the empirical approach and to generalize a solution, case independent mathematical models should be built. The mathematical models can be applied in analytical, in numerical or in nowadays more popular combined analysis. In this subchapter, these analyses are introduced shortly. A deeper literature study is presented in Chapter 2.

1.1.1 Analytical computation

Analytical computation of eddy currents is usually applied for simple and special cases. Due to the simplifications or simplifying assumptions about the actual physical picture we usually arrive to similar limitations as when using empirical formulae. An analytical solution is usually valid only for certain special constructions, and/or conditions but it is still more flexible than the empirical formulae. There are plenty of works considering the analytical solution of eddy currents in simple geometries and several methods were applied for multi-conductors. Unfortunately it is practically impossible for a design engineer to obtain the general analytical solution for an arbitrary multi-conductor problem with a high number of conductors. However with the simplifying assumptions analytical computation can become a powerful tool.

1.1.2 Numerical analysis

A multi-conductor stator winding can be modeled by finite element method (FEM) with a detailed mesh and eddy-currents can be modeled properly when solving the magnetic field. The consideration of eddy-currents in the rotor winding (rotor bars) of cage induction machines is common using the FEM while the study of eddy-currents in stator windings is still an avoided task because of certain practical problems. The finite element modeling of the stator winding could result in thousands of elements per stator slot, which can make practical machine design very difficult or impossible within the finite element method.

Boundary element method (BEM) is of growing importance in recent years. Many scientific papers are dealing with the applications of this method. However there is little sign that BEM can be applied more efficiently for modeling an arbitrary multiconductor winding for transient problems than the FEM recently, but the intensive research about boundary element method might offer this possibility in the near future. According to an in-depth literature study, multi-conductor eddy-current problems by the boundary element method are solved in time harmonic analysis, and nonlinear materials in the surroundings can hardly be considered. Boundary element method does not offer a superior way over the FEM to consider large skin depth transient problems. Time harmonic analysis can be performed with serious advantages compared to FEM for large and small skin depth problems but transient BEM analysis is advantageous only for small skin depths with surface currents.

In the integral equation (IE) formulation, when only the conducting and the magnetic regions are meshed, we arrive to a full matrix connecting the nodes on the boundary of the stator slot and on the boundary of the conductors. It is very similar to the "case of islands" during a badly selected elimination sequence as it is presented in Publication 4. The number of non-zeros in the system matrix increases dramatically for such formulation. It is not suggested for those kinds of problems where the number of nodes which, are mutually coupled is very high. This is the case in the IE model of the stator slot with many conductors.

1.1.3 Combined numerical - analytical analysis

Combined numerical-analytical methods are lively and promising subjects of research. Analytical methods live their renesans due to their speed and simplicity in certain applications. The coupling of numerical and analytical methods can overcome the weaknesses of both analysis and can utilize the advantages from both. Despite the great promises of the coupling, there are only a few references for coupling numerical and analytical methods for the modeling of the stator slots, or multi-conductor windings and those are usually heavily simplified. This is probably due to the fact that the general analytical modeling of multi-conductor systems is a very difficult task requiring heavy simplifications.

1.2 Summary

The consideration and calculation of eddy-current effects in multi-conductor windings is a difficult but necessary task in many fields of electrical engineering especially on the field of electrical machines and devices. Presently the practice is to ignore eddy-current effects during the magnetic field computation or to approximate them by simple empirical formulae because there is not any convenient solution for design engineers in the every day design work. The research on this topic is very lively and the present state of the art has to be studied very carefully before future trends could be observed.

1.3 Aim of the work

The aim of the work has been to develop methods, which are efficient in the modeling of eddy-current effects in multi-conductor windings in the electromagnetic field analysis of rotating electrical machines. The developed method should be easy to implement and use in electrical machine design.

The development and testing of proper measuring techniques to evaluate the new methods has also been a goal of the work.

1.4 Structure of the work

The research work accomplished for this thesis can be divided into the following major steps:

- 1. A detailed literature review in Chapter 2 is given to present the state of the art of the eddy current computation methods for multi-conductor windings.
- 2. Overview of the 2D finite-element eddy-current model in Chapter 3.
- 3. Verification of the finite element model for multi-conductor eddy-current problems by comparison to measurements in Chapter 4.
- 4. Study of the effects caused by the "elimination" of the winding region, with respect to the size and complexity of the system of equations in Chapter 5.

- 5. Determining the right place and order for the "elimination of inner nodes" method inside the nonlinear iteration process in Chapter 5.
- 6. Verification of the advantages and limitations of the pure elimination of inner nodes method in Chapter 6.
- 7. The development of the novel macro element method which requires only one elimination of the system matrix and uses constant macro elements in the creation of the eliminated system of equations during the whole time stepping analysis – is presented in Chapter 7.
- 8. The development of advanced techniques for the application of macro elements in electrical machines presented in Chapter 8. Memory requirements have been decreased and the periodicity of the machine geometry has been utilized.
- 9. Test computations with several machine models to evaluate the effectiveness of the macro element method presented in Chapter 9.

In the following chapters these steps will be presented and explained in details as separate entities. The steps from 3 to 9 are based on publications. These publications are reprinted in the Publications chapter at the end of the thesis.

The content of the publications and the involvement of the author of this thesis in those articles is the following:

Publication 1

The significance of Publication 1 from the point of view of this thesis is that the verification of the finite element multi-conductor, eddy-current model - and the corresponding code - has been presented. The code, which has been verified in this paper, has provided the basis for further research. The skin resistance of a multi-turn winding has been modeled by 2D FEA. The calculated results were in good agreement with measurements.

The paper has been written by Áron Szücs. The finite element model of the coil used for the verifications has been built by Áron Szücs, and the test measurements and test computations have been performed by him also. Antero Arkkio contributed with his insight for the finite element model, which has largely been developed by him.

Sakari Palko has given invaluable help in the broken rotor bar analysis. Ivan Yatchev developed the multi-conductor, eddy-current code - as it existed that time - and which has been tested in the paper. Invaluable comments from Julius Saitz have helped the work presented in the paper.

Publication 2

In Publication 2 one of the fundamental ideas of this thesis - the "elimination of inner nodes" method - has been evaluated. When the effect of eddy currents in the multi-conductor stator windings is included in the finite element model the number of nodes in the linear stator slot regions is very high.

By the Gauss elimination of the variables corresponding to nodes inside the stator slots the size of the system matrix has been reduced. The reduction created several small full matrices in the system matrix. The major question in the paper was: Will the solution time decrease if we eliminate the inner nodes from the stator slot? The conclusion was that the efficiency of the elimination depends on the ratio of the number of nodes inside and on the boundary of the eliminated region. In some test cases the solution of the reduced system was 20 times faster than that of the original.

The paper has been written by Áron Szücs. Antero Arkkio has been a co-author of the paper. He contributed with valuable comments during the evaluation of the elimination method and helped with comments about the paper.

Publication 3

In Publication 3 the place of the elimination process inside a nonlinear iteration process has been studied. The paper concludes that it is enough to perform the elimination only once during a nonlinear iteration. The system matrix has been divided into linear and nonlinear parts where only the linear part needs to be eliminated. The eliminated linear part is created in the first step of the iteration and remains constant during the whole iteration. The nonlinear part is changed as needed by the iteration process and it is added to the constant eliminated linear part in every iteration step. This way the elimination has to be done only in every time step and not in very iteration step. It is an important step forward the utilization of the elimination but the ultimate goal - to create a constant macro element, which models the winding region in the whole time stepping analysis - has not been reached in this paper.

The work for the paper has been accomplished by Áron Szücs and the paper has been written also by him. Antero Arkkio who has been a co-author of the paper, contributed with his valuable comments and insight.

Publication 4

Publication 4 presents how to create a constant macro element once and to use that during a whole time stepping analysis. The idea behind the macro element method is that the linear part of the system matrix, which belongs to the multi-conductor stator windings, remains structurally unchanged during the whole analysis. This means that the same eliminated matrix can be included in all the time steps. Combining this conclusion with those presented in Publication 3, one can conclude that only one elimination of the inner nodes is required. The paper also investigates the effect of the elimination sequence on the speed of the elimination and suggests several algorithms for the proper selection of elimination sequence.

The paper has been written by Áron Szücs without co-authors. The paper acknowledges Prof. Tapani Jokinen and Dr. Antero Arkkio for their valuable help during the work.

Publication 5

Publication 5 presents the advanced use of the elimination method. The major conclusion of this work is that the macro element approach can not only increase computation speed but it can have several other advantages. The macro element method cuts a large problem to smaller, separately solvable parts, which still remain strongly coupled despite their separation. The division of the problem in such ways leads to much lower demand for memory size especially when the symmetry of the repetition of the stator slot geometry can be utilized. The paper concludes that the reduction in memory requirements by the macro element approach can be more important than any speed improvement. The macro element method can allow the solution of large problems, which would be unsolvable with limited computing resources. A new explanation of the matrix structure - when using macro elements - is also given in the paper.

Áron Szücs is the principal author of the paper. The co-authors Tapani Jokinen and Antero Arkkio contributed with precious comments for the paper.

Publication 6

Publication 6 presents a real life test of the macro element method. Two test machines have been analyzed with and without the use of the macro elements. All together 14 time stepping analyses have been performed and the results have been compared to evaluate the effect of the macro element method. The computation results have been the same but there was a significant difference in computation time and in memory requirements. The paper concluded that with the increase of the non-linearity of the problem the macro element method become more efficient. The speed improvement in the best case was 20 percent. The significantly decreased memory requirements for these test cases have also been noticed.

Áron Szücs is the principal author of the paper. The co-authors Tapani Jokinen and Antero Arkkio contributed with help and comments for the paper.

2 OVERVIEW OF EDDY-CURRENT COMPUTATION METHODS FOR MULTI-CONDUCTOR WINDINGS

State of the art of multi-conductor eddy-current modeling

A short summary about the basic theory behind eddy currents and the most significant analytical, numerical and combined methods in concern with the topic are presented in this chapter. The selection of the related papers is a hard task, because after the few directly connected publications we can find thousands of partly related works which can play important role in future research but they do not fall on the straight line of this specific research. The purpose of the following literature review is to highlight the major lines of research and achievements concerning the topic.

Eddy currents are induced in conducting materials due to the time variation of the magnetic field. This fact is well known as Faraday's law represented by (2.1).

Before going deeper into the mathematical descriptions and equations of eddy currents we can state some basic assumptions. The most common assumptions when investigating electrical machinery are the followings:

- the displacement current is neglected,
- isotropic conducting media are considered,
- no atomic effect is taken into account (macroscopic model),
- homogenous media structure (no domain theory),
- thermal nonlinearity is neglected, (lately there is an intensive research about this topic)
- in magnetically linear materials permeability μ is constant.

The validity of the first assumption is really questionable when the frequency of the source is very high or in case of fast transients. This topic seems to be encouraging for further studies, but we can suppose that in an ordinary electrical machine the effect of capacitive currents do not significantly influence the appearance and distribution of eddy currents in the windings. This statement is usually true even for machinery connected to inverters with small switching rise time. The amount of displacement currents compared to the phase currents is normally two or three orders of magnitude less. Taking capacitive effects into account requires the computationally very heavy three-dimensional analysis.

Under the listed assumptions the following fundamental laws of electromagnetism (most of Maxwell equations) represent the equations describing eddy currents.

$\nabla \times \boldsymbol{E} = -\frac{\partial \boldsymbol{B}}{\partial t}$	Faraday's law	(2.1)
abla imes H = J	Ampere's law	(2.2)
$\nabla \cdot \boldsymbol{B} = 0$	Gauss's law	(2.3)
$B = \mu H$	constitutive relation	(2.4)
$J = \sigma E$	constitutive relation, Ohm's law	(2.5)

The variables H, E, B stand for the magnetic field strength, the electric field strength and the magnetic flux density, respectively. The term J is the current density, μ and σ are the magnetic permeability and electric conductivity, respectively.

In the finite element formulation of electromagnetic field problems, an important role can be played by the magnetic vector potential. It is commonly used in the solution of two-dimensional magnetic fields because in that case it reduces to a singlecomponent variable. To satisfy the non-divergence of the magnetic field, the magnetic vectorpotential is defined so that it's curl is equal to magnetic field density

$$\boldsymbol{B} = \nabla \times \boldsymbol{A} \ . \tag{2.6}$$

Accordingly $\nabla \cdot (\nabla \times A) = 0$ is satisfied for any *A*. In order to define the vector field *A* uniquely, (2.6) alone is not enough. In magnetostatic field problems the Coulomb gauge is usually used to specify the magnetic vector potential (2.7).

$$\nabla \cdot \boldsymbol{A} = 0 \tag{2.7}$$

Faraday's law described in (2.1) can be formulated by the use of magnetic vector potential (2.8).

$$\nabla \times \boldsymbol{E} = -\frac{\partial (\nabla \times \boldsymbol{A})}{\partial t} = -\nabla \times \frac{\partial \boldsymbol{A}}{\partial t}$$
(2.8)

This expression can be written into (2.9) where the appearance of $-\nabla\phi$ is no surprise since $\nabla \times (\nabla\phi) \equiv 0$. The symbol ϕ stands for the reduced electric scalar potential.

$$\boldsymbol{E} = -\frac{\partial \boldsymbol{A}}{\partial t} - \nabla \boldsymbol{\phi} \tag{2.9}$$

Substituting (2.9) into (2.5), we get the equation concerning the current density (2.10).

$$J = -\sigma \frac{\partial A}{\partial t} - \sigma \nabla \phi \tag{2.10}$$

Combining (2.10) with (2.2) we arrive to (2.11). This is the field equation which considers the reverse effect of eddy currents on the magnetic field which causes them (Lenz's law).

$$\nabla \times (\nu \nabla \times A) + \sigma \frac{\partial A}{\partial t} + \sigma \nabla \phi = 0$$
(2.11)

From the point of view of this thesis, the skin effect and proximity effect in current carrying multi-conductor windings are the major topics. Skin effect in multi-conductor systems is referred to the phenomenon when the current flowing in a conductor is crowded out to the surface by its own time varying magnetic field. Proximity effect occurs when the current density in a conductor is influenced by the varying magnetic field created by the current flowing in neighboring conductors. Skin effect and proximity effect are both due to eddy currents, caused by the time varying magnetic field and their separation is purely hypothetical. This logic of separation can be found more frequently in the corresponding earlier literature.

2.1 Analytical methods to consider eddy currents

Eddy currents were tackled purely by analytical methods before the advent of the digital computer. The eddy-current effect was recognized very often as skin effect and in the literature they referred to it by this name. The problems investigated analytically were limited to simple geometrical configurations such as planes, cylinders, or spheres and the problems had to be linear. Analytical computation of eddy currents has a long history and it is often referred as an old approach, but it should not be considered useless in the shadow of numerical methods. Analytical methods are still widely used and probably they will always be considered as the basis for electromagnetic field computation. It is difficult to tell who is the founder of eddy-current calculation but the first valuable results, which are still in use nowadays were presented by A. B. Field in 1905 [17]. An excellent overview of analytical methods can be found in [51] by Stoll R. L., 1974 and in [27] by Lammeraner J. and Stafl M. from 1966.

Despite their limitations, when applicable, analytical methods are usually fast and accurate and maintain close contact with the physical reality.

The most widely used analytical design method is based on the single conductor approach. The basic idea is to define the geometrical parameters of the conductor so, that eddy currents are negligible at the operational frequency ϖ . The geometry is designed in accordance with the skin depth δ , which should be much larger than the width and/or height of the conductor. The skin depth, in case of sinusoidaly varying field, is defined in (2.12) where σ is the electric conductivity, μ_0 is the magnetic permeability of free space and μ_r is the relative magnetic permeability of the material of the conductor.

$$\delta = \sqrt{\frac{2}{\varpi \sigma \mu_0 \mu_r}}$$
(2.12)

As an example, at 50 Hz supply frequency the skin depth is about 9 mm for copper and 2 mm for saturated mild steel [51]. In synchronous generators, the 9 mm skin depth is a well known important parameter when designing the winding of the machine. The size - usually the height - of the conductors is selected typically less than 5 mm but this depends on the allowed amount of additional Joule losses. The amount of these losses is usually between 10-30% of the resistive losses in the practice.

The most popular analytical approach for multi-conductor eddy-current analysis is the network approach. In 1988 Iseli et al. presented an approximation of a solid conductor by a fictious strand structure [22]. This way the problem is reduced to the determination of the self and mutual inductances of the conductors involved. An improved model was presented by Wong 1994 in [67]. The use of such analytical approach becomes very complicated in case of high number of conductors.

An analytical circuit model of a DC machine winding was presented by Milykh V. I. 1993 in [31] in order to consider eddy currents due to the saturation of the armaturecore teeth and to the relatively large cross-section of the wires. A very detailed explanation about the usage of the method is given in this paper but the references are difficult to reach and only published in Russian. The paper deals with six large conductors and uses network approach similar to that of Iseli et al.. The use of this approach would be similarly painful as it was mentioned before for a higher number of conductors for every day design.

An interesting investigation is conducted by Salon at. al. 1993 in [42] where a closed analytical formula was compared to finite element analysis. The analytical formula - which ignores the effect of eddy currents on the field - studied in this paper is widely used in machine design to find the eddy factor. The formula (2.13) gives the eddy-current loss in a rectangular conductor (height is 2b, length is *l*) as a function of the geometry and the alternating flux density defined as $B_0 \sin(\omega t)$. Variable ρ stands for the resistivity of the conductor.

$$W = \frac{lb^3 B_0^2 \omega^2}{3\rho}$$
(2.13)

This is the eddy loss only and the loss due to the load current must be added to it to get the total loss in the conductor. In the paper, the strand height had been chosen to be much smaller than the skin depth at rated frequency, this way, the loss is resistance limited and the effect of eddy currents to the field is negligible. The resistance limited

case predicts higher losses than actually occur because it ignores the decrease of the actual flux due to eddy currents.

A coupled magneto-thermal analysis of additional Joule losses in the copper conductors of induction motors was published in 1996 by Autier V. et al. in [5]. They investigate the effect of the temperature on the eddy currents in an electrical motor. Analytical formulae are applied and a simple model is build for modeling the thermal effect. The thermal effects in Roebel bars and Punga bars were presented.

A method for the analysis of eddy-current loss caused by the main and slot leakage flux in the bars with hollow conductors of electrical machine winding is presented by Demenko A. et al. in 1996 in [15]. Analytical approach is compared to FEM and the results are commented from the point of view of loss calculation. Special attention has been paid to Roebel bars composed of hollow and full copper conductors. They concluded that in the analysis of the power loss, the circulating currents can be neglected in Roebel bars using either hollow or full conductors. The analytical formula presented for the calculation of stray load loss was found to be more accurate than those in previous studies. They performed time harmonic analysis and the saturation effect was neglected.

An analytical method was presented in [32] 1990 by Namjoshi K.V. and Biringer P. P. to calculate the magnetic field when two long, perfectly conducting nonmagnetic cylinders are placed in a uniform transverse magnetic field. The expressions derived in the paper may be used to estimate the proximity effect and the skin effect.

There are papers dealing with analytical methods applied in the analysis of eddycurrents in the rotor bars of induction machines. However, the application of these methods presented for rotor bars are not applicable directly for multi-conductor windings. Among these one can find [23] which will be explained more thoroughly in the coupled analytical - numerical section.

2.2 Numerical methods to consider eddy currents

Although there are several applications where analytical computation is sufficient, the majority of electromagnetic machinery and devices nowadays cannot be investigated purely analytically due to their complicated structure and due to the materials with nonlinear properties. This is the reason for the extensive use of numerical methods in the research and development and every day design work nowadays. Numerical methods can handle well nonlinearities and practically any configuration with complicated boundaries. The weakness of numerical analysis can be characterized by the long iterative computations and by the "blurred" picture of the physical reality. The information about the physical picture can be maintained partly by backing the numerical analysis with dimensional analysis. This can save time when calculating a large set of operational points.

A great source of information about numerical analysis of eddy currents is [26] by Krawczyk A. and Tegopoulos J. A. 1993. In this book, an advanced and in-depth picture about the topic is given, and numerical methods are explained in details. Special cases typical in engineering practice like the open boundary problem are also discussed. The book was published in 1993 and gives a good summary. However to get a recent picture about the newest developments especially about the handling of external circuit connections one should study literature written after 1993.

2.2.1 Finite Element Analysis

The most convenient way to model eddy currents in multi-conductor windings is to perform finite element analysis (FEA). There are two very popular one-step finite element formulations to consider eddy currents. They are called one-step methods because they realize a strong coupling of the eddy-current effect with the field solution. In contrary with the numerous earlier studies which used weak coupling and so iterations, or modal network solutions and superposition, (such approaches can be found in [27], [51], [60], [30], [45-50], [2], [11], [9-10], [13], [65]) in the one-step formulation the result is obtained in one single solution of the system of equations.

A. Konrad was first to present an integrodifferential approach 1981 in [25]. The other approach was published a year later in 1982 by Weiss J. and Csendes Z. J. in [64]. Their formulation is based on adding an extra equation for each conductor involved. The integrodifferential approach results in more dense system matrix while the addition of extra equations increases the size of the system. In both of these cases, a detailed finite element mesh is required to model the conductors especially the penetration region.

An in-depth assay about the perspectives of the eddy-current calculation in electrical machines has been given in [38] by Reichert et al. in 1988. They emphasized that the finite element meshing - in small skin depth problems - can increase the problem size so much, that it can limit the use of conventional finite element techniques. This observation is a major driving force from the point of view of this thesis.

The circuit equations connected with the finite element problem were included into the solution by Bourmanne P. et al. in 1991, [8]. A multi-conductor winding embedded into a linear magnetic slot was investigated in the paper. The calculation of the skin and the proximity effects in multi-conductor systems was the main concern of the work. The boundary element method was used to model the magnetic field in linear magnetic nonconducting media and finite element equations were used in the nonlinear magnetic and/or conducting media. The magnetic field in the multiconductor winding was basically modeled by finite element method. The paper explains methods to deal with both serial and parallel connected conductors. This work is also a good example of joining boundary elements with finite elements.

In 1992 Sturgess J. P. presented an interesting work [52], where he investigated the three dimensional effects in two dimensional field modeling. He explained that the proper circuit connection modeling can be crucial for accurate analysis. The most interesting example is the rotor of a salient pole generator. The field plots of two solutions are compared. The first was calculated by the damping bars connected and the second the damping bars disconnected. The effect is very significant, although in both cases eddy currents were considered in the bars. Only time harmonic analysis was presented.

A method to model circuit connections in time dependent eddy-current problems was presented by Tsukerman I. A. et al. in [61] in 1992. The paper deals with 2D finite element analysis of eddy currents based on Konrad's integrodifferential approach but in this work external circuit connections of the conductors are also taken into account. Konrad A. is a co-author of this paper. Conductors with eddy currents were treated like circuit elements with terminal voltages implicitly defined by the field equation. The finite element method was combined with the conventional loop current method of circuit theory to formulate the circuit equations. They show, how this

method allows the consideration of outer regions such as end effects. The problems investigated by Reichert et al. in 1988 were not studied.

In 1993, Tsukerman I. A. et. al. (Konrad A. is again a co-author in this paper) present an overview of coupled field-circuit problems, with a "subtitle" : "Trends and Accomplishments" [62]. The paper reviews the formulations and numerical methods for two-dimensional eddy-current problems in which conductors with eddy currents are connected by external circuits. In the historical notes, they explain how eddycurrent problems were handled first without and later with circuit connections. They explain how the so called filamentary problems were first to be solved with circuit connections and later eddy-current problems followed. The differentiation between filamentary and eddy-current problems may require some explanation. The first means that the conductors are composed of thin filaments and so the current distribution is predetermined. In such cases, the current density is not a function of the vector potential so the problem can be seen as a magnetostatic problem. The eddy-current problem in their definition is the case where the current distribution is unknown as it is in solid conductors and so it is related to the magnetic vector potential: A. They suggest finally a similar approach as it was presented in [61] before by two of the principal authors. The real merit of this work is that it collects and summarizes different approaches for coupled field-circuit eddy-current problems, but again the problems mentioned by Reichert et al. in 1988 were not resolved.

Just ten pages further in the same volume (1993) there is an other in-depth study about transient eddy-current problems [63] written by Tsukerman I. A. with the coauthorship of Konrad A. again and two other authors. This time, they present a survey of numerical methods to consider transient eddy-current problems. The work starts from the finite element formulations, goes through the time stepping methods and system solvers for implicit schemes, and finally includes some numerical examples. The finite element formulations considered are

- •the integrodifferential formulation in 2D
- •the $H \Omega$ method
- •the *T*-*H* method
- •the $A^* \Omega$ formulation.

A very recent work published by Weeber K. in 1998 in [66] deals with a similar topic as Sturgess J. P. 1992. However, Weeber applied time stepping analysis with Crank-Nikolson time discretization in the FEM to study the amortisseur windings of single-phase synchronous generators. He modeled the rotation of the rotor and applied a strong coupling between field and circuit equations. He finally identifies the main cause of the mechanical failures of the rotor as the temperature difference between adjacent amortisseur windings, and the large mechanical stresses caused by the differential axial expansions.

Another recent publication by Johan Driesen et. al. [16] in 1998 deals with the thermal effects in transformer windings. They consider the changes in the current density distribution arising from the thermal nonlinearity of the conductors. They used time harmonic analysis of the current harmonics. The magnetic nonlinearity is taken into account by approximating the time varying magnetic reluctivity by a fictious constant function. This way, only time harmonic analysis is required for the field computation. The computational problems connected to this kind of approach are the instability of the nonlinear iterations and the heavy computational requirements. Another important drawback is that motion and so rotating electrical machines can not be modeled this way. Although this approach has some computational problems it could be a very promising method. As it will be explained in the boundary element section, in case of time harmonic problems boundary element method (BEM) is superior over the FEM from the computational efforts point of view. This fact could mean that such an approach for considering nonlinearities combined with the BEM can be more efficient than the time stepping FEM for certain problems. This is an important observation for future research.

Ivan Yatchev, Antero Arkkio, Asko Niemenma has published a laboratory report in 1995 in the Helsinki University of Technology, Laboratory of Electromechanics. The title of the report was "Eddy-current losses in the stator winding of cage induction motors" [69]. In this study, they have investigated the effect of eddy currents in the stator winding, for the finite element analysis of induction machines. In sinusoidal case at the nominal frequency they did not notice significant change in the computed losses in their test machine. They concluded that only in case of inverter supply the effect of eddy currents has been significant in steady state. The most interesting conclusion was that the losses in the iron have decreased - due to the reduced total current by the eddy currents - and the losses have "redistributed" in the machine when the eddy current model was included. This loss redistribution is one of the most interesting topics to be investigated with a proper model of the eddy currents in the stator winding. The drawback of the model used in this report was that the same as the problem with many previous studies. The size of the finite element problem has increased very much compared to the size of the problem without the eddy current model. To keep the model size small, only a very simple model of the conductors has been used. This work was a major inspiration to launch a research project on this subject. The research work summarized in this doctoral thesis has been initiated by the recognition of the need for a reduced but accurate model for stator winding eddy current analysis.

2.2.2 Conclusions of the Finite Element subchapter

The finite element method is the most convenient way to consider eddy currents in multi-conductor windings. The finite element analysis is usually easy to formulate but in practical applications a detailed finite element mesh for a high number of conductors and / or small skin depth may require thousands of elements and nodes. Due to that, the size of the problem can be much higher compared to the simplified conducting region model [3] where current density is supposed to be homogeneous and the whole multi-conductor winding -like the stator slot of an electric machine - is modeled with one large conductor. This is the widely spread practice in today's R&D of electrical machines. The increased problem size due to the detailed mesh for the conductors can make practical machine design very painful or impossible, as it was indicated by Reichert et al. [38] in 1988.

2.2.3 Boundary Element Method

In recent years the boundary element method (BEM) has become very popular. Several applications in connection with multi-conductor windings can be found.

A paper entitled the "Calculation of two-dimensional eddy-current problems with the boundary element method" was presented in 1983 by Rucker W. M. et al. in [37]. Two dimensional eddy-current problems are formulated by a set of boundary integral equations and were solved by the boundary element method. Time harmonic analysis was performed for the study of an infinitely long circular conductor. The results proved that the boundary element method provides high accuracy of the solution using quadratic elements.

In 1986 Zhou P. B. and Lavers J. D. published their work [71], in which they consider skin and proximity effects for single and multiple conductors. The equations are formulated by an integrodifferential expression and the problem was solved by the boundary element method. They studied the accuracy of the computation for linear and constant elements. The losses in single and multiply connected, solid and hollow conductor coils were studied. The goal of the paper was to calculate the time harmonic 2D magnetic vector potential A_z resulting from one or more long conductors carrying prescribed total currents. They reached this goal and showed that the constant boundary elements proved to be surprisingly good for problems where the ratio of characteristic dimension to penetration depth was less than 20. The constant elements proved to be superior to linear elements for such problems. The authors also developed a hollow conductor correction factor using their results and a single turn coil. The paper was limited to time harmonic analysis only.

In 1990, Ahmed T. M. presented a new formulation [1] for skin and proximity effect eddy-current problems. The approach is called H-formulation boundary-element method. The advantage of this method is that its highest singularity is a weak one and it is more accurate than previous formulations. Using the suggested formulation, results in a diagonally dominant matrix without creating a strong singularity term in the boundary integral equation.

Rucker W. M. and Richter K. R. present a software package based on a BEM code for 3D eddy-current calculations [36] in 1990. They applied time harmonic analysis to solve coupled boundary integral equations for the magnetic vector potential and the electric scalar potential within the conductors and the magnetic vector potential in non eddy-current regions. The results from boundary element analysis were compared with those of the finite element method and perfect agreement was found.

A sophisticated study was presented by Zhou P. et al. in 1991 in [73] to solve nonlinear eddy-current problems with the BEM. They suggest an iterative scheme to solve multi-conductor eddy-current problems where conductors have nonlinear permeabilities. Their results agreed well with the corresponding finite element analysis. This study was also limited to time harmonic analysis, and the magnetic flux density was assumed to be sinusoidal, despite the presence of nonlinearity. This assumption is a serious limiting factor for applications in electrical machinery.

All of the listed papers above restrict their studies to time harmonic analysis. This is due to the fact, that in time stepping analysis of transient problems, the superiority of the boundary element method over the finite element method disappears. A well placed explanation can be found in the abstract of [59] by Tanaka M. et al. from 1993:

"In the sinusoidal steady-state analysis, it is an advantage of boundary element method that eddy current analysis can be performed by only the surface integral without the volume integral. However, the volume integral and the surface integral are necessary for boundary element analysis in the transient problem. Therefore the advantage of the boundary element method vanishes."

They propose a Fourier approach for the transient problem to arrive to a situation in which the use of boundary element method is sufficient. After gaining the results by BEM those are transformed back to time domain by the inverse Fourier transformation. They study linear problems only so the problem of magnetic nonlinearities is not dealt.

Another area where boundary element method can be highly utilized is the field of high frequency small skin depth problems. Yuferev S. V. and Yuferev V. S. published two interesting papers [70], [71], in 1992 and 1994, respectively. In the first paper, they study a problem in which a short current pulse passes through a conductor. In such a case, the electric current flows only in the surface layer of the conductor, and the magnetic field penetrates only into a very narrow layer from the surface also. They investigate the current redistribution due to inductive coupling of so called current elements. They however clearly state that the current redistribution due to the direct diffusion of the magnetic field in all directions is not considered because it would require the use of the complete diffusion equation for the field inside the conductor. In the second paper, they formulate a three dimensional problem in a two dimensional boundary integral formulation extended with an additional term reflecting the axial dependence of the potential distribution resulting from the finite length of the

conductors. Also in this paper, the short current pulse case with only surface currents was studied.

2.2.4 Conclusions of the Boundary Element subchapter

One can conclude that the intensive research on the BEM in the future might result in such a method, which can handle transient and nonlinear problems better and faster than the FEM, but recently the FEM is more convenient for such problems. From the point of view of this thesis, this is an important observation.

2.3 Combined numerical and analytical analysis of eddy currents

The majority of numerical analysis of electrical machines and devices is combined with analytical computations. In case of eddy-current loss computation in the stator winding of electrical machines, the use of analytical, and empirical formulas is a common practice. The eddy-current losses can be calculated from a magnetic field, which is actually not influenced by the effect of eddy currents. This is proper only in the filamentary case, however, because of the simplicity of this approach it is widely used in non-filamentary cases as well with some loss of accuracy. In such cases, the analytical methods are not used to consider the effect of eddy currents on the magnetic field.

The combination of numerical and analytical methods to consider the effect of eddy-currents on the magnetic field is more important from the point of view of this thesis. In certain cases, the flexibility of numerical analysis can be combined with the advantages of analytical approach.

The combined analysis is widely used when the problem can be divided into regions among which some can be modeled sufficiently analytically and some others which are more suitable to model numerically.

A good example for the application of combined methods is [23] by Kladas A. and Razek A. from 1988. This paper describes a combined analytical macro element and finite element method for the consideration of eddy currents in rotor bars. An asynchronous machine is modeled by finite element method except the rotor bars which are represented by analytical macro elements. Macro elements were connected to the finite element mesh by their boundary nodes (in this case the nodes on the boundary of the rotor bar). The advantage gained by combining the numerical and analytical methods in this paper is that a wide range of supply frequencies can be considered by the analytical macro element without any mesh refinement. In case of a finite element rotor bar model, the consideration of increased frequency would require the refinement of the rotor bar mesh. The application of this approach for stator windings looks very difficult, because it requires the accurate modeling of the winding by analytical means. This is the same obstacle as in the case of purely analytical methods, although here the rest of the machine like the stator iron could be modeled by the FEM.

In 1990 Ngnegueu Tr. et al. proposed a separate treatment of thin and thick conductors in electromagnetic devices [33]. They suggest that the Joule losses caused by the eddy-currents in the thin conductors should be taken into account by analytic formulae because the effect of the eddy currents to the flux distribution can be neglected in their region. They propose to treat thick conductors by FEM. The accuracy obtained was found to be good comparing FEM with the analytical solution for thin conductors. Time harmonic analysis has been performed for all components of the field. The limitation of this method is that the selection of the regions where the inverse effect of eddy currents on the field is neglected should be determined beforehand. This can be difficult in case of non-sinusoidal supply with high harmonic components. Transient analysis with this approach looks even more difficult in the presence of non-linearities. The proper description of eddy-current effect on the magnetic field would be done by the FEM as this paper suggests also.

Kladas A. G. and Tegopoulos J. A. presented a new analytic element method in their work [24]. The advantage of this method is that more complex geometries can be modeled by analytic elements and the need to use finite elements disappears. The whole solution domain can be modeled by analytic elements. Unfortunately, the paper deals only with a very simple geometry, sinusoidal supply and linearized magnetic properties, and there is no indication, that transient nonlinear problems could be modeled by this approach.

A semi-analytical method was proposed by Mayergoyz et. al. 1986 [28] for the calculation of the magnetic field in slotted structures of A.C. machines. The method is

based on applying a slot impedance boundary condition. It leads to the analytical representation of magnetic field in terms of spatial harmonics. This approach is limited to a certain kind of rectangular slots whose depth are much larger than their widths. The magnetic field is also supposed to be varying in a predominant direction namely from the top to the bottom of the slot. This is essential for treating the slots in the impedance boundary way. The analysis of saturated slots and transients is inadequate with this approach.

In 1994, Gyimesy M. et. al. presented a paper [21] about the application of external circuit connections for multiply connected regions using the impedance boundary condition. The paper gives a good overview of the recent state of the art about the use of impedance boundary conditions. They state that impedance boundary conditions have been used together with FEM and BEM as well. The basic idea when using impedance boundary conditions is that the eddy-current domains are left out of the solution region, and only their effect is considered by a special boundary condition. The use of impedance boundary conditions requires time harmonic analysis and the consideration of nonlinearities is neglected in the paper similarly as in the work by Mayergoyz et. al. 1986 [28]. The paper does not deal with cases where the excluded region is also an active source of the field. Transient problems were also ignored.

2.3.1 Conclusion of the combined analysis chapter

According to the result of the literature survey, no combined numerical-analytical method has been found which would treat a transient, 2-D, multi-conductor eddycurrent problem in the presence of nonlinear materials in such a way that the effect of eddy currents on the magnetic field would properly be taken into account. The problem seems to be the same as in case of purely analytical solutions, namely the analytical model of the multi-conductor winding is very complex.

2.4 Conclusions

We can conclude that the precise consideration of skin and proximity effects caused by eddy currents is an important task but yet unsolved for the every day design of multi-conductor windings like the stator winding of electrical machines. Either analytical or numerical approaches alone lead to serious problems such as the difficult formulation for many conductors in the analytical approach or the large problem size and the long computation times in the numerical approach. Unfortunately it seems that combined methods are also still hard to apply for transient multi-conductor problems. However the single conductor problem (rotor bar) has been solved and there are a large number of papers in recent years dealing with the problem.

One would wish to have the speed and simplicity of analytical methods and the flexibility and relatively straightforward applicability of the finite element method in one package. The most desired solution of the problem could be a so-called FEM combined with macro element method approach. The stator slot of an electrical machine - or the multi-conductor winding of some other device - should be modeled by a macro element that is an analytical or numerical function between the nodes of the region containing the multi-conductor winding.

It has been noticed in the literature review, that the analytical modeling of eddy currents in the multi-conductor windings requires serious simplifications. These kind of simplifications can undermine the very reason why one would take the eddy current effects into account in the magnetic field analysis.

In this thesis, the creation of the macro element is suggested by numerical means. This way the accuracy of the multi-conductor-winding model can be maintained. The macro elements can be utilized to replace the finite element model of the multi-conductor winding during the time consuming nonlinear iterations. From these iterations, the linear winding regions can be excluded if their effect is properly taken into account by the macro elements through the boundary nodes of the eliminated regions. The formulation of this novel method is derived, discussed and verified in this thesis. In the following chapter, the fundamental 2D finite-element eddy-current model is introduced and discussed.

3 FINITE ELEMENT MODEL FOR THE ANALYSIS OF EDDY CURRENTS IN MULTI-CONDUCTOR WINDINGS

The merits and limitations of FEM

In this chapter, a state of the art 2D finite-element eddy-current model for multiconductor systems is presented which has been considered as a starting point for this work. The corresponding equations of the method are presented first. They are followed by the discussion of the basic mathematics and characteristics of the method with respect to the structure of the system matrix. Finally, the conclusions are drawn about the abilities and limitations of this well-known and well-published approach.

A finite element solver was written in the Laboratory of Electromechanics by Ivan Yatchev in 1995 which takes eddy currents into account in coupled field and circuit analysis [69]. His program is based on the theory described in [62], [63], [64] and on a code resulted by a long lasting research project conducted in the Laboratory of Electromechanics at the Helsinki University of Technology. The achievements of the previous studies are summarized in a 2D finite element program package, which is suitable for the analysis of rotating electrical machines, especially, cage induction motors. Non-linearity of iron is modeled by a single valued magnetization curve. Finite element equations are solved together with the circuit equations. The eddy currents in the windings are taken into account by adding an extra voltage equation for each serial connected conductor and for parallel connected conductors an extra current equation is needed.

3.1 Theoretical background

The model to consider eddy currents in the stator winding requires three kind of basic equations. The finite element equation (3.1) governing the electromagnetic field, the circuit equations for rotor (3.2) and stator (3.3), and extra equations (3.4) to account for eddy currents in the stator conductors. This formulation is based on theory described in [62], [63], [64] and was applied for cage induction motors in [69] where the details of the time and space discretization can also be found. For a deeper understanding of the problem, one can study the finite element formulation of the cage

induction motor, which is explained and discussed thoroughly in [3] and [4] by Antero Arkkio.

$$\nabla \times (v\nabla \times \mathbf{A}) + \sigma \frac{\partial \mathbf{A}}{\partial t} - \left(\frac{1}{l_e} \sum_{j=1}^{Q_r} \sigma \eta_j^r u_j^r\right) \mathbf{e}_z - \left(\frac{1}{l_e} \sum_{j=1}^{Q_c} \sigma \eta_j^c u_j^c\right) \mathbf{e}_z = 0$$
(3.1)

$$u_p^{\rm c} = R_{\rm r} i_p^{\rm r} + R_{\rm r} \int_{S_p} \sigma \frac{\partial A}{\partial t} \cdot dS_p; \ p=1,..,Q_{\rm p}$$
(3.2)

$$u_m^{\rm s} = Q_{\rm s} \sum_{j=1}^{Q_{\rm c}} \eta_{jm}^{\rm s} u_j^{\rm c} + L_{\rm b} \frac{di_m^{\rm s}}{dt} + R_{\rm b} i_m^{\rm s}; \ m=1,..,Q_{\rm m}$$
(3.3)

$$u_n^{\rm c} = R_{\rm c} \sum_{j=1}^{Q_{\rm c}} \eta_{nj}^{\rm s} i_j^{\rm s} + R_{\rm c} \int_{S_n} \sigma \frac{\partial \mathbf{A}}{\partial t} \cdot d\mathbf{S}_n; \quad n=1,..,Q_{\rm c}$$
(3.4)

The variables A, u_m^s, u_n^s, u_n^c stand for the magnetic vector potential, the voltage and current of phase *m*, and the voltage on the conductor number *n* respectively. L_b, R_b stand for the inductance and DC resistance of the end-winding of one phase. R_c is the DC resistance of one conductor in the slot. Q_m, Q_c, Q_p and Q_s are the number of phases, stator conductors and rotor bars in the solution sector and the symmetry sectors respectively. Reluctivity is represented by v, and σ is conductivity. The η is a logical operator with the values: 0 and 1 describing the relationship of conductor voltages with a certain phase voltage or phase current, or the connection of the nodes in the finite element mesh to the rotor bars and to the stator conductors. The value 1 is applied if there is a connection and 0 otherwise. The effective air gap length of the machine is l_e . S_n is the cross sectional area of the n-th conductor.

Generalized first order finite difference procedure is used for the time stepping method. According to the study made by Ivan Yatchev, the Backward Euler method has proved to be more stable than the Crank-Nicholson (trapezoidal) method. Similar suggestion can be found in other works. This is proved by the analysis of the conductor voltages during the time stepping process. Non-linearity of iron is modeled by a single valued magnetization curve. The nonlinear system is solved by Newton -Raphson iteration. The discretization of these equations in time and space is not presented here because it is thoroughly explained in the work of Ivan Yatchev in [69] and more available by Tsukerman at al. in [61-63]. From the point of view of this thesis, it is more interesting how the structure of the discretized system of equations looks like.

3.1.1 Matrix structure

The structure of the equation system in matrix form - formulated for time stepping analysis in the k+1 -th time step and in the *n*-th nonlinear iteration step (Newton - Raphson) - can be seen in (3.5).

$$\begin{bmatrix} P(a_{k+1}^{(n)}) & D^{r^{T}} & 0 & D^{c^{T}} \\ D^{r} & C^{r} & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & C^{s} & KG^{c^{T}} \\ D^{c} & 0 & G^{c}K^{T} & C^{c} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} \Delta a_{k+1}^{(n)} \\ \Delta u_{k+1}^{r(n)} \\ \Delta u_{k+1}^{s(n)} \\ \Delta u_{k+1}^{s(n)} \end{bmatrix} = -\begin{bmatrix} f^{a}(a_{k+1}^{(n)}, u_{k+1}^{c(n)}, u_{k+1}^{c(n)}) \\ f^{r}(a_{k+1}^{(n)}, u_{k+1}^{c(n)}) \\ f^{s}(i_{k+1}^{s(n)}, u_{k+1}^{c(n)}) \\ f^{c}(a_{k+1}^{(n)}, i_{k+1}^{s(n)}, u_{k+1}^{c(n)}) \end{bmatrix}$$
(3.5)

The first, second, third and fourth rows of this matrix equation system represent equations (3.1), (3.2), (3.3), (3.4), respectively. The *P* matrix stands for the sum of the Jacobian of the traditional finite element stiffness matrix plus the time dependent part, the so called mass matrix (3.6) representing time dependent terms.

$$\boldsymbol{P} = \boldsymbol{S} + \boldsymbol{T} \tag{3.6}$$

The stiffness matrix depends on the nonlinearity of the iron, implemented in the iron element matrices. The mass matrix includes the influence of the time derivative of the magnetic vector potential in conductor elements or in other words the effect of the eddy currents. D^{r} and $D^{r^{T}}$ represent the coupling between the rotor circuit (rotor voltages) and the corresponding rotor nodes (in the rotor bar) while C^{r} accounts for rotor connections. Similarly D^{c} and $D^{c^{T}}$ stand for the coupling between the stator circuit (conductor voltages) and the conductors. Among the remaining unexplained matrices C^{s} contains the parameters accounting for the end windings. The matrices $G^{c}K^{T}$, $KG^{c^{T}}$
represent the connections of the conductors to the phase voltages and the connections of the phases to each other (star, delta or other).

On the right hand side, f^{a} , f^{r} , f^{s} and f^{c} are the corresponding residual vectors in connection with the finite element, the rotor, the stator and the conductor equations, respectively. The vector f^{s} includes the voltage sources (phase voltages).

3.1.2 Observations about the system matrix

The major part of the system matrix is represented by the Jacobian *P*. The size of this matrix is N x N where N - is the number of nodes in the finite element mesh. The total size of the system matrix is M x M, where M is the sum of the number of the nodes, rotor bars, phases and conductors in the stator slots. In a practical case studied in [69], N=11301 while M=11301+42+3+324=11670. The ratio M/N =1.033.

Another important notice is that the number of nodes connected with the stator winding mesh compared to the total number of nodes is usually very high even in case of a simple mesh. Using the same example the total number of nodes was: N = 11301, while nodes in the stator slots: Ns= 5022. Almost the half of the nodes are located in the stator slots even in the case of a sparse winding mesh. With increased number of conductors and more refined mesh the number of nodes can become enormously high.

3.2 Conclusions

We have arrived to a similar conclusion what was reached in Chapter 2. Despite its straightforward applicability, the 2D finite element modeling of eddy currents in multi-conductor windings carries with itself practical limitations. The high number of nodes inside the multi-conductor winding leads to these limitations. The reasons for the high node numbers are the high number of conductors or the small skin depth and these can turn the finite element approach practically useless.

In the next chapter, the finite element formulation is tested by comparing computed results to measured ones. Following that in Chapter 5, the Macro Element Method is introduced, which has been developed to overcome the limitations of the finite element approach.

4. VERIFICATION OF THE FINITE ELEMENT MODEL FOR MULTI-CONDUCTOR EDDY-CURRENT PROBLEMS BY COMPARISON TO MEASUREMENTS

Theory in the test of Mother Nature

The development of new accurate methods to model eddy currents requires the ability to verify them. Two major ways of verification are given. The most obvious and usually the easiest way is to compare a newly developed method to the existing ones, preferably to analytical methods which carry a close connection with the physical reality. Unfortunately, this kind of testing cannot always be performed, or sometimes it does not give convincing results proving the capabilities of the new method. A problem can arise that although the existing methods are accurate in certain cases, we might want to study new presently uncovered problems. If the researchers cannot utilize their results from previous methods for testing, it is suggested to go back to mother nature and to perform the experiments. Generally speaking, a new method can be trusted when properly measured results agree with the calculated ones.

The fundamental goal of this thesis has been to develop a method, which can be connected to, and utilized in the finite element analysis of electrical machines. The verification of the finite element model - and the finite element code - developed in the Laboratory of Electromechanics for multi conductor windings has been necessary to insure that it is a proper foundation to build on. Although many papers can be found where FEM is used for multi-conductor winding problems and one could believe those publications with a clear conscience [2, 11, 15, 26, 38, 62], the finite element code required first hand testing in order to be selected for further development. The accuracy of modeling eddy-current effects in multi-conductor windings of electrical machines, transformers, and other devices can be evaluated by comparing the calculated and measured eddy-current losses in the conductors. A verification of the model is presented in Publication 1 under the "First application: Determination of the Skin Resistance in a Stator Winding " section in the paper.

In addition to the same method explained in Publication 1, this chapter gives a short introduction to the separation of the eddy-current loss in the conductors from the

resistive iron losses if the conductors are embedded into iron. A measuring method for this case is also introduced and evaluated.

Measurement of eddy-current losses in the windings of electrical machines is a very challenging task. The separation of eddy-current losses from the total losses in an electrical machine is very difficult, but it can be crucial for accurate testing of mathematical methods. The major problem is that looking at an electrical machine or transformer from its terminals does not allow us to tell the amount of the resistive losses dissipated in the windings. The core losses in the iron parts of the machine appear also as resistive losses from the terminals point of view. The separation of the core and the copper losses by measurements is a tough task, if not impossible in several cases.

In the absence of the iron losses or in other words in a device without iron, the eddy-current losses in the multi-conductor windings can be measured easily from the terminals by electrical means.

4.1 Measurement in linear media

If a multi-conductor winding is surrounded by air, the eddy-current losses can be measured directly from the terminals of the coil. The corresponding equation is (4.1) in which the product of the instantaneous voltage u and the instantaneous current i is integrated over one period of the supply voltage. The active power in this case is the same as the resistive losses.

$$\frac{1}{T}\int_{0}^{T} uidt = P \tag{4.1}$$

In case of sinusoidal supply (4.1) becomes (4.2) where U_{RMS} and I_{RMS} are the RMS values of voltage and current measured at the terminals and $\cos(\varphi)$ is the power factor.

$$U_{\rm RMS}I_{\rm RMS}\cos(\varphi) = P \tag{4.2}$$

Using the measured active power and the RMS value of the current, the AC resistance can be calculated by (4.3). This characterizes the equivalent resistance of the test object at a certain frequency.

$$R_{\rm AC} = \frac{P}{I^2_{\rm RMS}} \tag{4.3}$$

4.1.1 The eddy factor

The eddy factor is used to identify the eddy-current effect, especially skin effect. The increase of the resistance due to eddy currents can be seen very well from the ratio of AC and DC resistance, which is defined as the eddy factor (4.4).

$$e = \frac{R_{\rm AC}}{R_{\rm DC}} \tag{4.4}$$

4.2 Measurement in the presence of iron

When an iron core is present in the surroundings of the studied winding, the measured active power is not the same as the resistive losses in the windings, but the sum of those and of the iron losses. The separation of these losses can be solved by thermal measurement. The resistive losses dissipated in the winding can be computed from the heat up process during a load. The temperature rise (ΔT), the mass of the coil (*m*) and the specific heat of the conducting material (*c*) defines the dissipated heat according to (4.5)

$$Q = c \cdot m \cdot \Delta T \tag{4.5}$$

The active power can be calculated from (4.6), where the dissipated heat is expressed as the time integral of the active power during the heat up process.

$$Q = \int P \cdot dt \tag{4.6}$$

If we suppose that *P* is constant during the measurement, then from (4.5) and (4.6) we get (4.7) where *t* is the duration of the heat up process, and ΔT is the temperature rise.

$$P = \frac{c \cdot m \cdot \Delta T}{t} \tag{4.7}$$

From (4.7), (4.3) and (4.4) the AC resistance and the eddy factor can be calculated.

4.3 The test object

The test object was designed to perform the eddy-current loss measurements on a multi-conductor winding, which can be surrounded by either magnetically linear or nonlinear media. The plan was created by Antero Arkkio. The structure of the test rig is shown on Fig. 4.1. The test coil consists of seven turns. Between the turns thermocouples have been placed to measure the temperature rise.



Fig 4.1 The geometrical construction of the test coil

The location of the thermocouples is presented in Fig. 4.2 There are 7 thermocouples (one on each turn) at all the 5 places along the length of the coil. The distances measured from one end of the coil are 10, 55, 95, 145 and 190 mm. Basically the losses at all of these places should be about the same due to the small third dimensional effect, but this arrangement gives a possibility to check it by measurements. All together 35 thermocouples were inserted into the winding.



Fig. 4.2 The location of the thermocouples shown by the arrows over the test coil

The length of the coil is much larger than its height so the end winding effects are well damped and can be ignored. The linear measurements were performed with the plastic cover on the coil. The plastic cover was necessary to give a mechanical stiffness to the winding to hold it. Four plastic covers were used as can be seen from Fig. 4.2 with the length of 50 mm each. The nonlinear measurement tests can be performed using a laminated iron cover around the coil.

4.4 Results of the measurements

The electric and thermal measurements were performed based on the theoretical background explained in chapter 4.1 and 4.2, respectively. The results were evaluated with respect to the eddy factor, which was introduced in chapter 4.1. The supply voltage in these measurements was sinusoidal.

The voltage was supplied by a synchronous generator driven by a DC motor. The frequency (the speed of the generator) was controlled by the DC machine. The frequency, voltage, current, effective power loss, total loss and power factor were recorded.

4.4.1 Eddy-current effect measured from electric properties

In order to insure an accurate measurement, the AC and DC resistances of the coil were measured parallel to avoid the effect of the changes in the resistance - on the skin factor - caused by the heating-up of the coil during the measurement. The change in the DC resistance was at the order of milliohms until the completion of the measurement but it had to be considered for the determination of the eddy factor.

The maximum errors of the measured current, voltage, and resistive power values depending on the power factor and frequency were between 0.5 - 2.5 %. The lower the power factor or higher the frequency, the worse is the accuracy. In our case when increasing the frequency the power factor decreases. This causes that the accuracy of the measuring system is significantly worse at higher frequencies.

The measured and calculated eddy factor against the frequency curves were in a good match. The difference between the measured and calculated eddy factors was well inside the measurement accuracy. Similarly good agreement has been observed and published by the author of this thesis in Publication 1 and [57] in 1996. The measured and calculated values for the test rig can be compared in Fig. 4.4. The

extended results of Publication 1 can be seen on Fig. 4.5. In Fig 4.5, the measured values are compared to the results obtained by time stepping and time-harmonic finite-element analysis. The later two gives identical results as they should and the discrepancy between the measured and calculated values is small.



Fig 4.4 Comparison of measured and calculated skin factor versus the frequency for the test rig. The calculation was performed by the time stepping method.



Fig 4.5 Measured and calculated results from a previous study involving another multi turn coil. The calculations were performed by time stepping and time harmonic analysis as well. The perfect match of the two methods is obvious for linear sinusoidal problems.

4.4.2 Eddy-current effect measured by thermal properties

A test measurement was performed to evaluate the usability of the thermal measurement for the estimation of eddy-current losses. In the test measurement the linear cover was used so the results could be compared to the values measured from the electric properties.

The heat up test measurements could clearly indicate the increased effect of eddy currents with the increase of the frequency but the accuracy of the heat measurement limited this study significantly. The measurement took too much time compared to the heat transfer procedures inside the test rig, and the different turns of the coil cooled down at different speeds decreasing the accuracy of the measurement. Taking each turn into account - including the fast cooled turns - when calculating the loss, the error of the measurement was under 9 % compared to the electric measurement. However this error was still too high to calculate the eddy factor precisely.

4.5 Summary

The measured results agreed well with the calculated ones for the linear case when the eddy-current losses could be measured from the electrical properties. The difference between the measured and calculated results was in the range of the measurement error. The measurement proved that the finite element model and the code used in this analysis is a proper tool for the study of multi-conductor eddycurrent problems. One can conclude that the finite element model used in this work is a proper tool for multi-conductor eddy-current problems and the electrical measurements confirmed this statement.

An analytical computation for the studied problem would not be impossible due to the complexity, but it would require laborious modeling work.

The thermal measurement was a success from the theoretical point of view, but the measuring devices and the long measuring time due to them limited the accuracy of the measurement significantly. With better devices the measurement promises the possibility to separate eddy-current losses from the iron losses in a simple manner.

The improvement of the measuring setup is required to increase the accuracy of the measurement.

Numerical methods always carry the danger, that the result obtained is only a couple of meaningless numbers, because the direct connection to the physical world is blurred by the numerical techniques applied. These measurements proved that the tested finite element model and code is adequate for the analysis of multi-conductor eddy-current problems and the finite element analysis was formulated and performed properly.

The finite element model and code tested in this work has been proved to be a strong basis to develop it further and to build new methods on it.

5. ELIMINATION OF INNER NODES IN THE MODELING OF EDDY CURRENTS IN MULTI-CONDUCTOR WINDINGS

Problem size reduction with the Gauss elimination of inner nodes

This chapter introduces the elimination of inner-nodes method in the modeling of eddy currents in multi-conductor windings surrounded by or close to magnetically nonlinear media. It can be used to reduce the highly increased number of unknowns when modeling multi-conductor windings with the FEM. Using elimination method, the size of the system can be decreased and the solution of the system of equations can be accelerated very significantly.

Traditional finite element formulation is combined with the elimination of inner nodes to achieve the problem size reduction. The basic idea of the method is that the finite element system is divided into linear and nonlinear parts. The linear parts where the multi-conductor winding also belongs - can be eliminated for the duration of the nonlinear iteration process, resulting in accelerated calculation. It promises significant improvement in the calculation speed for applications in electrical machines and devices. The elimination method is explained in the following manner according to the time sequence of the development process:

- 1. Study of the effects caused by the "elimination" of the winding region, with respect to the size and complexity of the system of equations. Evaluation of the expectations and the reality when using elimination. This study has been published in Publication 2.
- 2. Determination of the right place and order for the "elimination of inner nodes" method inside the nonlinear iteration process. This problem area has been addressed in Publication 3.

5.1 Elimination of inner nodes

As the slot of an electrical machine consists of linear materials only, the variables associated with the nodes inside the slot mesh can be eliminated from the system of equations for the duration of the nonlinear iteration process. In this formulation, the variables describing the voltages of the conductors could similarly be eliminated. In the given example, the sub matrix S_{11} depends on vector *u* representing non-linearity in the system. Performing Gauss elimination the number of variables and the size of the system matrix decreases (5.1), (5.2). It is enough to iterate with (5.2) and after reaching convergence linear variables in vector *v* can be calculated in one step.

$$\begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{S}_{11}(u) & \mathbf{S}_{12} \\ \mathbf{S}_{21} & \mathbf{S}_{22} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{u} \\ \mathbf{v} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{R}_{u} \\ \mathbf{R}_{v} \end{bmatrix}$$
(5.1)

$$\left[S_{11} - S_{12}S_{22}^{-1}S_{21}\right]\left[u\right] = \left[R_u - S_{12}S_{22}^{-1}R_v\right]$$
(5.2)

The eliminated system is expected to be faster to solve but it is not obvious, because the sparse system matrix becomes relatively denser. The effectiveness of the elimination has to be studied. This study is performed and presented in Chapter 6.

5.2 Expectations about the effect of elimination

Performing the elimination of the inner nodes from a selected region decreases the number of variables in the system. While the size of the system matrix decreases, a B x B full matrix is inserted into it due to the elimination, where B - is the number of nodes on the boundary of the eliminated region. The appearance of this full matrix is due to the fact, that by the elimination, we define a function between the nodes on the boundary. This function - represented by the full matrix - can be recognized as a macro element in the stator slot. Keeping these facts in mind, the expectations about the efficiency of the elimination before performing the tests are the following:

1. Higher number of eliminated nodes with the same number of nodes on the boundary results in higher efficiency because of the decrease in the size of the system is higher.

2. The larger the number of nodes on the boundary, the lower efficiency of the elimination we can expect because the size of the full matrix - inserted into the eliminated system - increases, and so the complexity of the whole system matrix.

5.3 Method of elimination in the solution process

The role and place of the elimination in the solution process is explained in this chapter and a novel technique is suggested to create the eliminated matrices.

The solution process consists of the following sub-processes:

- •time steps,
- •iteration steps,
- •elimination,
- •solution steps (of the linear system of equations),
- •recovery of eliminated variables.

In the most simple case, the method of elimination is located in the solution process as it is depicted in Fig. 5.1. In this explanation, iteration steps include the solution steps.



Fig. 5.1 Simple solution process. Elimination and recovery of the linear variables are performed in each iteration step. This kind of solution can already be faster than performing the solution without elimination. This has been indicated by other studies.

This kind of solution can already be faster than without elimination. Similar approach was found to be very efficient in [14] by Degeneff et al. who performed the elimination by pre-calculated matrices. A more advanced way of the solution is depicted in Fig. 5.2. Here the recovery of the variables is performed only at the end of each iteration process. In this formulation, the Jacobian before elimination is created so that the linear variables are kept constant during the iteration so their values are not recovered in each iteration step. It can be proved, that keeping the "linear variables" constant during Newton-Raphson iteration, does not influence the convergence. Only variables connected with nonlinear dependency affect the rate and way of the convergence. Utilizing this fact, the values of linear variables which are not connected with the non-linear dependency in the Jacobian can be set to "arbitrary" values. If the system matrix and the residual vector are set up properly using these "arbitrary" values, the iteration will converge exactly the same way as it would if linear variables are also "iterated". This statement will be proved later in the mathematical validation subchapter.



Fig. 5.2 Advanced solution process. The Jacobian is created in each iteration step so that the linear variables are kept constant. These variables are not iterated and they are only recovered after the iteration has converged.

5.3.1 The suggested construction of the eliminated system of equations

The reason why the previously discussed "advanced solution process" would require the elimination in each iteration step is that the eliminated system matrix and the eliminated residual changes in each iteration step. The need to eliminate in each iteration step was due to the fact, that after the elimination we get a complex system which contains nonlinear terms, time dependent terms and terms created by the elimination. In the "advanced solution process" the eliminated system is created by ordinarily constructing the system matrix and the residual vector and then elimination is performed.

In the suggested solution process, however, we create the eliminated system without the need to perform the elimination. The flowchart of the proposed technique is presented in Fig. 5.3.



Fig. 5.3 The suggested flowchart for the solution. Elimination is performed only once in a time step.

The idea behind the technique how to handle the matrices in the Newton-Raphson iteration is depicted in a flow diagram in Fig. 5.4. The principle of the method is to create the constant linear part of the Jacobian, eliminate it, store it, and add the nonlinear parts to it in each iteration step. The residual can be set by the use of the

stored eliminated matrix, and by adding the nonlinear parts to it in each iteration step. This way, the elimination is performed only once at the beginning of each iteration.

Create the linear part of the Jacobian matrix and set the sources on the right hand side!
 Eliminate this system and STORE the result!

Iteration started here!

3. Create correct eliminated Jacobian by adding the nonlinear parts in each iteration step to the stored linear system!

4. Create the correct eliminated residual by adding to the stored sources on the right hand side, the linear part of the residual, using the stored eliminated linear Jacobian. Add the non-linear parts by recalculating them in each iteration step!

5. Solve the system!

6. Check convergence! If it is not converged go to step 3! If converged, recover and calculate linear variables (vector*v*)!

Fig. 5.4 Flow diagram of the technique for a time step, including the construction of the eliminated Jacobian matrix in each iteration step. Elimination is performed only once before the first iteration step.

5.3.2 Mathematical validation of the method

The validity of such an algorithm is proven in the followings. Steps 3 and 4 of Fig. 5.4. are investigated closely and are clarified.

Equation (5.3) represents a nonlinear system of equations and (5.4) is formulated for Newton Raphson iteration. A_{11} represents the nonlinear part depending on vector*u*. In our case, the non-linearity of the surrounding iron is modeled by nonlinear elements in the mesh. Eliminating (5.4), we get (5.5). In (5.5), the Jacobian consists of a nonlinear and an eliminated linear part. Note that performing an elimination on the proposed purely linear structure (5.6) results in (5.7) and has the same Jacobian as in (5.5) except the nonlinear part. This proves the validity to handle the Jacobian in the way described steps 1,2 and 3 in Fig. 5.4. However, the method is not complete without creating the residual. From (5.5), we can see that the first two terms on the right hand side considering the sources remain constant during the iteration. These are the same terms as in the right hand side of (5.7). The third term of the right hand side in (5.5) can be created by using the eliminated Jacobian of (5.7) and by adding the nonlinear parts. This proves the validity of step 4 in Fig. 5.4.

$$\begin{bmatrix} A_{11}(u) & A_{12} \\ \\ A_{21} & A_{22} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} u \\ v \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} S_u \\ \\ S_v \end{bmatrix}$$
(5.3)

$$\begin{bmatrix} A_{11} + \frac{\partial A_{11}(u)}{\partial u} & A_{12} \\ A_{21} & A_{22} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} \Delta u \\ \Delta v \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} S_u - A_{11}u - A_{12}v \\ S_v - A_{21}u - A_{22}v \end{bmatrix};$$
 (5.4)

$$\begin{bmatrix} A_{11} + \frac{\partial A_{11}(u)}{\partial u} u - A_{12}A_{22}^{-1}A_{21} \end{bmatrix} [\Delta u] = \begin{bmatrix} S_u - A_{12}A_{22}^{-1}S_v - (A_{11} - A_{12}A_{22}^{-1}A_{21})u \end{bmatrix}$$
(5.5)

$$\begin{bmatrix} 0 & A_{12} \\ & & \\ A_{21} & A_{22} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} \Delta u \\ \Delta v \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} S_u \\ S_v \end{bmatrix}$$
(5.6)

$$\left[0 - A_{12}A_{22}^{-1}A_{21}\right]\left[u\right] = \left[S_u - A_{12}A_{22}^{-1}S_v\right]$$
(5.7)

As it was mentioned in this chapter before, the convergence of the iteration depends only on the nonlinear variables, which influence the nonlinear parts of the Jacobian matrix. The validity of the iteration process without the linear variables can be proved from (5.4) and (5.5). The change of vectors u and v in the current iteration step is given by (5.4). Eliminating vector Δv we get (5.5) where only the change of u is expressed. Unlike (5.4), this equation does not depend on vector v! This means that the variables in vector v do not influence the iteration.

5.4 Realisation of the elimination method

In this chapter the realization of the suggested method is discussed. The necessary mathematical and preprocessing algorithms to handle and utilize the elimination method inside the finite element analysis are presented here and a short overview of the programming is given.

5.4.1 Methods for pre-processing

The selection of the variables which should be eliminated from the system can be a painful job. A simple and convenient method is explained in this section. The basic idea of this method is to set a special boundary condition for the free nodes in the eliminated region. This special condition can be used to find and differ them in the finite element code. The proposed preprocessing method can be used with any graphical preprocesor. If the eliminated region contains other than free nodes (fixed or periodic boundary) this method should be modified. Researchers, developing their own finite element preprocessors, can find this method interesting. With a sophisticated commercial preprocessor, the nodes to be eliminated might be selected easier on a different way. Creation of a separate file with the list of eliminated nodes could be a convenient solution if the preprocessor supports it.

The assumption for this method is that we can create a proper mesh for an electrical machine with a multi-conductor winding and in the winding we define only free nodes. The steps of the preprocessing are described in a flow chart in Fig. 5.5.



Fig. 5.5 The flow chart of the technique to create an 'eliminated' mesh.

The most important advantage of this process is that after step 3 we get such a mesh which we can modify and refine as we like with ordinary preprocessors, because the information about the 'eliminated' region is stored in the material types in standard format. This way it is enough to select the eliminated region once, and then we can easily refine it. After refinement, we can proceed to step 4 and our selection of the nodes which should be eliminated is complete for the refined mesh.

Another important advantage is that this method can be easily automated because of its nature. When setting the boundary conditions in step 4, a simple way to proceed is to change the boundary conditions only for free nodes, which belong to normal material type elements. This way the nodes on the boundaries of the eliminated region are set correctly. In case of higher order elements, this method works also properly and no complicated programming is required. The third advantage is that the eliminated region in step 2 can be easily selected by most of the preprocessors. The material types can be modified conveniently - for example - on a graphical user interface.

5.4.2 Construction and handling of eliminated matrices

When the nonlinear components of the Jacobian are inserted into the eliminated system (Fig. 4. step 3) and when the eliminated residual is being created (Fig. 4. step 4), the location of certain components can be complicated. In order to avoid complicated programming, an indexing technique is suggested in this section.

The basic idea is to create a mapping vector m. It is a simple one-dimensional array containing information about the variables moved by the elimination. The length of the vector is equal to the original number of variables in the system. The n-th value in vector m, referred as m(n) is equal to the new serial number of the *n*-th variable after elimination. As an example if only the variable number 10 is eliminated from the system, m(n) = n if n < 10 and m(n) = n-1 if n > 10. For m(10) we can define, for example, m(10) = 0 which means that variable number 10 is eliminated.

The advantage of this kind of mapping is that every working FEM code can be easily modified by replacing the serial number of the n-th variable by the m(n)mapping vector. Before elimination by default m(n) = n. During elimination the mapping vector can be easily updated. In this way, every component will be located and added properly to the system independently from when it is added (before, after or even during elimination) because the location of components in the system matrix is defined by the serial number of the variables.

5.4.3 Programming structure

The program utilizing the suggested technique consist of three major parts. First of those written earlier in FORTRAN to analyze cage induction machines, secondly the modules added by Ivan Yatchev also in FORTRAN and finally the new modules utilizing the elimination of inner nodes in FORTRAN and in C-language. There is a sophisticated data transfer in between the FORTRAN and C program side. The need for the C language routines was that it is convenient to construct sparse matrices using

pointer structures which were not supported well enough in FORTRAN. The handling of the sparse matrices is done by the commercial SPARSPAK matrix solver on the FORTRAN side and by a separate code handling the elimination, written by the author of this thesis. The first version of the Gauss elimination software written in C with the pointer structure did not prove to be efficient, and this part of the code required revision. When the new data structure avoiding pointers was written in FORTRAN, the speed of the elimination increased enormously.

5.5 Summary

The suggested method of elimination creates a numerical macro element replacing the finite element nodes in the eliminated linear multi-conductor region. The size of the problem can be dramatically reduced with this method and the solution time for the linear system of equations can be decreased. The novelty of this proposal is that the method of "elimination of inner nodes" has been applied for the study of multiconductor windings, and this has not been done before.

A new time stepping scheme is suggested and derived to reduce the required number of elimination processes per time step to one. The technique utilizes the fact that in a Newton-Raphson iteration process the "linear" variables do not have to be iterated.

The elimination process takes a lot of time by itself. This fact gives the motivation for the further development of a macro element approach where the macro elements are created only once in a whole time stepping analysis and consequently the elimination of the system matrix has to be performed only once.

The performance and effectiveness of the suggested elimination method is investigated in Chapter 6, and the macro element method is presented in Chapter 7.

6. RESULTS OF THE ELIMINATION OF INNER NODES

The advantages and limitations of the pure elimination approach

In this chapter, the effectiveness and the "behavior" of the elimination method is studied and some results are presented. First, the method to evaluate the effectiveness of the suggested technique is explained. This is followed by the description of the test cases and finally the effect of the elimination is shown by numerical results.

6.1 Method to evaluate the effectiveness

The effectiveness of the elimination was measured by comparing the system of equations before elimination to the system after elimination. Studying the structural changes of the system matrix due to elimination gives some hints about the complexity of the eliminated system. In this study, we introduce a term called the efficiency of the elimination. It is defined as a ratio of the solution times required before and after elimination. Solution time is the time needed to solve a system of equations once. In our case, it means one iteration step. From the definition of efficiency, it is clear that the higher the efficiency, the more time we can save by calculating with the eliminated system. The equation systems were solved by MATLAB (matrix laboratory) and computation times were measured. The matrices were handled in sparse form and the calculation was performed with a direct method with LU decomposition.

6.2 Test samples

The test cases for the study are two imaginary electrical machines. The solution sector in both cases contains one rotor and one stator slot. In the first case, the stator slot contains 24 conductors (Fig. 6.1) and in the second case 32 conductors (Fig. 6.2). The stator slot in the second case is more realistic in electrical machinery.



Fig. 6.1. The geometry of case A.



Fig. 6.2. The geometry in case B.

In both cases, two kind of second order meshes were studied. Sparse meshes (7 in both cases) were investigated with increasing number of boundary nodes while the number of eliminated nodes was kept about constant. Dense meshes (1 and 2 in case A and B) were studied with a small number of boundary nodes and with increased number of inner nodes.

The test meshes for case B are presented in Fig. 6.3. The structures of the meshes are similar for case A. For the sake of space and simplicity, only the meshes of case B are presented in this chapter, but some results from case A are also given. The eliminated region is presented in Fig. 6.4.





Fig. 6.3 The test meshes for case B. The meshes 1-7 were used to test the effect of the number of boundary nodes. Meshes number 8 and 9 differ from number 2 in the denser mesh in their stator slots and they were used to test the effect of the increased number of inner nodes.



Fig. 6.4 The representation of the eliminated region by removing the nodes from the mesh which belong to variables removed after elimination.

6.3 Results - The efficiency of the elimination

Table I shows the "efficiency" of the elimination for case *B*. The efficiency is defined as the ratio of the calculation times needed to solve the system in one iteration

step before and after the elimination. It can be seen, that the calculation times decreased dramatically after the elimination. The relatively long time spent for elimination is not included here.

TABLE 6.1: EFFICIENCY OF THE ELIMINATION IN CASE B.			
Mesh parameters: N: number of nodes,	Solved in (s)	Efficiency:	
Bn: number of boundary nodes, Ne:	O: original	Original /	
number of eliminated nodes	E: eliminated	Eliminated	
Sparse 1: N: 857, Bn: 22, Ne: 553	O: 1.26	12.45	
Fig. 6.3 / 1	E: 0.17		
Sparse 2: N: 873, Bn: 30, Ne: 557	O: 2.64	8.56	
Fig. 6.3 / 2	E: 0.17		
Sparse 3: N: 889, Bn: 38, Ne: 561	O: 1.42	6.76	
Fig. 6.3 / 3	E: 0.21		
Sparse 4: N: 905, Bn: 46, Ne: 565	O: 1.42	5.07	
Fig. 6.3 / 4	E: 0.28		
Sparse 5: N: 941, Bn: 64, Ne: 574	O: 1.53	2.55	
Fig. 6.3 / 5	E: 0.60		
Sparse 6: N: 989, Bn: 88, Ne: 586	O: 1.76	1.40	
Fig. 6.3 / 6	E: 1.26		
Sparse 7: N: 1029, Bn: 108, Ne: 596	O: 2.30	1.07	
Fig. 6.3 / 7	E: 2.15		
Dense 1: N: 1073, Bn: 30, Ne: 757	O: 1.81	11.31	
Fig. 6.3 / 8	E: 0.16		
Dense 2: N: 1589, Bn: 30, Ne: 1273	O: 3.46	21.63	
Fig. 6.3 / 9	E: 0.16		

Similar results were obtained for case A. These are embedded into Fig. 6.5 where the efficiency vs. the node ratio is plotted. The node ratio is defined as a ratio of the total number of nodes (in the whole mesh) over the number of nodes on the boundary of the eliminated region. The numerical values for case B are taken from Table I, sparse meshes 1-7 which mainly differ from each other in the number of boundary nodes. The figure shows that increasing the node ratio improves the efficiency of the method. In other words: the more nodes placed (required) on the boundary of the slot, the worse the efficiency of the method becomes.



Fig. 6.5 The efficiency of the elimination vs. the node ratio. The node ratio is defined as the ratio of total number of nodes and the number of nodes on the boundary of the eliminated region.

6.4 Evaluation of the results

The results agree well with our expectations (described in chapter 3.3) and we can state the followings.

Our first expectation seems to be proven in Table I comparing the sparse mesh number 2 with the dense meshes. In case of more eliminated nodes in the same geometry and with the same amount of boundary nodes, the method of elimination offers greater improvement. In the sparse case, the efficiency was 8.56 while in the dense meshes, 11.31 and 21.63 increasing with the number of nodes in the slot. For case A, a similar effect was experienced.

Our second expectation is proved by Fig. 6.5 which clearly shows that the higher the number of nodes on the boundary, the worse the efficiency becomes. In both of the studied cases (A and B), the same characteristics can be seen in the presented figure.

The representation of the results in Fig. 6.5 shows a close to linear dependency of the efficiency vs. the node ratio. Despite the nice appearance of these results, general conclusion should be drawn carefully.



Fig. 6.6 The efficiency of the elimination vs. the node ratio is derived by using the meshes in Fig 3/1-9 and two extra meshes with significantly more nodes outside the eliminated region.

Fig. 6.6 shows the same function for case *B* as Fig. 6.5 for both cases but in Fig 6.6 four more points (meshes) are added. Two of these clearly fall out of the trend line of the previous results and two fits there perfectly. The meshes which fit properly are the dense meshes depicted in Fig 6.2. with number 8 and 9, and the results are given in Table I as "Dense 1" and "Dense 2" in the last two rows. The other two meshes which do not fit, have significantly higher number of nodes outside the eliminated region which causes the overall efficiency to fall. These nodes result in a larger system of equations before elimination and after it as well. It influences the relative change of the complexity of the equation system due to elimination and thus the efficiency of the elimination. Based on this consideration we can expect the slope of the efficiency curve to be lower if the number of nodes outside the eliminated region is higher. This decrease of the slope can be seen by connecting the non-fitting points in Fig. 6.6.

6.5 Conclusions

The elimination of variables corresponding to the nodes inside the linear slot region is proved to be a promising and powerful method for the study of multiconductor windings surrounded by nonlinear media. It is clear from the results that the higher the density of nodes in the eliminated linear region, the more the elimination improves the solution time of the equation system.

Another important observation is that the lower the number of nodes on the boundary of the eliminated region, the higher the efficiency of the elimination becomes. The dependency of the efficiency vs. the node ratio for some certain geometries was experienced to be linear for meshes having close to the same number of nodes outside the eliminated region. The number of nodes outside the eliminated region influences the slope of the characteristic (Fig. 6.6.)

The elimination process takes a lot of time, so it is wise to build the system matrix during an iteration in such a way that elimination is performed only once. This is accomplished by the technique described in chapter 5.4. and the speed of the solution is increased significantly.

It has been explained in chapter 5.6 that the Gauss elimination - to reduce the system size (not to solve the system) - is proved to be a very time consuming process.

Although the test calculations proved that the elimination of inner nodes promises great improvements in the solution time of the reduced system of equations, the number of eliminations in a time stepping analysis is the same as the number of time steps. The time spent for the elimination process is too high. It could be that there are more efficient ways to create the eliminated system than to use the Gauss elimination, but the ultimate goal has been to create a constant macroelement for a whole time stepping analysis. It has been the major motivation for further research.

We can conclude that the development of a method, which requires less eliminations during the time stepping analysis is inevitable for the efficient use of the elimination of inner nodes method. In the next chapter the macro element method is presented, which requires only one time-consuming elimination of the system matrix in the full duration of a time stepping analysis.

7. MACRO ELEMENTS IN THE FINITE ELEMENT ANALYSIS OF MULTI-CONDUCTOR EDDY-CURRENT PROBLEMS

Only one elimination of the system matrix is required

The use of macro elements, which replace the multi-conductor winding in the time-stepping finite element analysis of electrical machines is presented in this chapter (Publication 4). The elimination method is incorporated into time stepping analysis in such a way, that the elimination – and so the creation of the numerical macro element – is performed only once in a whole time stepping analysis.

The novelty in this approach is that the creation of the time dependent right hand side vector can be created by a stored elimination vector and it does not require the elimination of the whole system matrix.

7.1 The finite element formulation for the macro element approach

The finite element formulation is the same as it has been described in Chapter 3 and the same as it has been used for the pure elimination of inner nodes approach. The fundamental idea of the elimination is also the same as described in Chapter 5 and the same equations used in Chapter 5 can be utilized to explain the new macro element technique.

7.2 The novelty of the macro element method

In this section, a time stepping technique is suggested by which it is enough to perform the matrix elimination only once in a whole time stepping analysis. It has been shown in Chapter 5 that the creation of the full eliminated system matrix on the left hand side of (5.5) $\left[A_{11} + \frac{\partial A_{11}(u)}{\partial u}u - A_{12}A_{22}^{-1}A_{21}\right]$ is possible by the use of the eliminated linear part of the system matrix - as shown on the left hand side of (5.7) $\left[0 - A_{12}A_{22}^{-1}A_{21}\right]$ - and by adding the nonlinear components $A_{11} + \frac{\partial A_{11}(u)}{\partial u}u$ in each iteration step. It can be seen from (5.5) and (5.7) that inside a nonlinear iteration, the residual $\left[S_u - A_{12}A_{22}^{-1}S_v - (A_{11} - A_{12}A_{22}^{-1}A_{21})u\right]$ can similarly be created using the

stored eliminated linear part of the system matrix $\begin{bmatrix} 0 - A_{12}A_{22}^{-1}A_{21} \end{bmatrix}$ and by adding the nonlinear contributions $(A_{11} - A_{12}A_{22}^{-1}A_{21})u$ in each iteration step. The sources including the time dependent terms due to the eddy currents have to be updated on the right hand side of (5.5) in each time step once.

Equations (5.5) and (5.7) clearly show that the linear part of the eliminated system matrix does not contain time dependent terms and so it is not necessary to perform the elimination of the system matrix in each time step. This is due to the eddy current formulation where the eddy effect adds time dependent terms only on the right hand side – represented by a source vector – and it adds a constant matrix to the system matrix. The real reason for the eliminated residual should contain the time-dependent eddy-current source terms inside the eliminated region when modeling eddy currents. These time dependent terms represented by S_v have to be taken into account in order to consider the eddy current effect properly in the windings.

7.2.1 The creation of a macro element

The elimination of the linear part of the system of equations in each time step can be avoided if we store the eliminating matrix $A_{12}A_{22}^{-1}$ for the source vector S_v . The eliminated source term in the right hand side of (5.5) represented by: $S_u^{-}A_{12}A_{22}^{-1}S_v$ cannot be created using the stored linear part of the system matrix. If the eliminated S_v source term - representing the eddy current effect - is created by the stored elimination matrix, the rest of the residual seen in (5.5) can easily be constructed. Using the stored linear part of the system matrix (5.7), the nonlinear non-eliminated components and the source terms connected with the non-eliminated variables S_u the residual vector can be created without the need for elimination.

The macro element replacing the FEM model of the multi-conductor winding in Fig. 7.1 can be fully represented by the eliminated linear part of the system matrix together with the eliminating matrix of the source terms.



Fig. 7.1 A slot of an electrical machine and its macro element representation

7.2.2 Advantage of the suggested macro element representation

The number of operations to eliminate the whole system is significantly higher than the number of operations needed for eliminating only the residual. In a practical application without renumbering the mesh for optimal elimination, 14 341 730 operations were needed for the elimination of the whole system while only 76 435 operations were required for the elimination of the residual. The number of operations required for different meshes with increasing mesh density in the eliminated slot region are given in Table I and Fig. 7.2.

NUMBER OF OPERATIONS REQUIRED FOR ELIMINATION				
nodes				
873	14 341 730	76 435	187.63	
1073	22 453 817	101 834	220.49	
1257	38 284 012	143 078	267.57	
1353	46 573 378	161 866	287.73	
1589	83 125 897	247 528	335.82	

TABLE I



Fig. 7.2 Number of operations required for the elimination of the whole system and the residual vs. the node number.

66

The exponential behaviour of the number of operations with increasing number of nodes is a warning sign. If this exponential increase would continue with the same rate, it could limit the applicability of the macro element method to low node numbers. Fortunately, with the optimization of the mesh for elimination, this exponential behavior disappears.

7.3 Optimisation of the elimination sequence

In light of the macro element formulation, the aim of the elimination process is to create a macro element which is a function between the nodes on the boundary of the eliminated region. This function is represented by a full N x N matrix where N is the number of nodes on the boundary of the eliminated region. During the elimination, the number of non-zeros vary in the originally sparse system matrix. Depending on how the elimination proceeds and which nodes are eliminated first, we can obtain different amount of non-zero elements in our system matrix during the eliminated from the macro element region. In an unlucky situation where the nodes closer to the boundary of the macro element are eliminated first, we can arrive to a system of "islands". This problem has been tackled in Publication 4 and several optimization algorithms are suggested.

The most crucial result of the optimization of the elimination sequence is that the number of operations vs. the number of nodes curve become linear after optimized elimination sequence Fig 7.3.



Fig. 7.3 Number of operations needed for the optimized eliminations versus the number of nodes

7.4 Discussion about the macro element method

The goal of the macro element approach is to accelerate and simplify the solution of the eddy current problem in the multi-conductor windings of electrical machines. It has been shown in previous chapters that the eliminated winding region results in a reduced system of equation which requires much smaller computation effort to solve than the original system, if certain conditions are met. These conditions were:

1. High number of eliminated nodes (variables)

2. Low number of nodes on the boundary of the eliminated region (macro element)

The computation time does not consist only of the solution of the system of equations but also a significant amount of time is used for the construction of them when using finite element analysis. The total time used for the macro element approach can be divided to the following parts:

1. Gauss elimination of the macro element regions, for the creation of the macro elements. It should be performed only once in a time stepping analysis, or more exactly, once after the winding region is constructed. The macro element can be saved and loaded unchanged when the same winding mesh is inserted into a different machine model. The elimination can take a long time, but it only has to be performed once, and its significance is decreased by creating the macro element to be time independent.

2. Elimination of the right hand side vector - due to time dependent sources - once in each time step. It takes much less time than the elimination of the whole system, but it is a time factor, which does not appear without macro elements.

3. Construction of the system outside the macro element, or in other words the construction of the nonlinear regions. It takes the same amount of time with or without macro elements.

4. Solution of the system of equations in each iteration step. It can take much less time when using macro elements. For a huge multi-conductor winding mesh, the difference can be very large. Depending on the nonlinear behavior of the problem, this step can become an important time factor. The "more nonlinear" the problem, the more iteration steps are needed.

5. Recovery of the eliminated variables when the iteration converged. This step is also unique for the macro element approach and does not appear in the classical finite element analysis. This step should be performed once in each time step in order to model the time derivative and so the eddy currents properly.

Studying these steps one fact can be seen clearly. In case of high number of time steps in nonlinear problems - like electromagnetic devices with iron cores and with a huge finite element model for the multi-conductor winding in them, to consider eddy currents - the method promises huge improvement over the classical approach. It has been experienced that even with a few steps of nonlinear iteration in each time step the method is superior over the classical approach if the winding mesh is dense enough.

One can conclude that the macro element method is greatly advantageous if the problem is nonlinear, non-sinusoidal, and complicated from the eddy current point of view (multi conductor). In that case, there is little sense to apply boundary element method combined with Fourier analysis. The problem can be conveniently formulated by the finite element method and - as it was discussed before - macro elements should be useful to reduce computational needs.

7.5 Conclusion

The suggested macro element representation allows us to construct the eliminated system of equations very conveniently and fast, and to utilize numerical macro

elements in the finite element computation of eddy currents in multi-conductor windings of electrical machines. One needs to perform the elimination of the system matrix only once during a whole time stepping analysis. The macro element is fully represented by the eliminated linear part of the system matrix together with the eliminating matrix of the source terms. The study has shown that the number of operations required for the suggested technique - which is the same as the number of operations required to eliminate the source vector - are much less then for the elimination of the whole system.

It has also been shown that the optimized elimination process allows much more efficient creation of the macro element than the elimination without optimization. The number of operations needed for the elimination in the optimized case is significantly lower. In one case it appeared to be 16 times lower.

It is important to observe that the exponential behavior of the number of operations vs. the node number has changed to linear dependency when the elimination has been optimized. This means that larger problems only require proportionally larger amount of computation effort.

8. ADVANCED UTILIZATION OF MACRO ELEMENTS

Separately solved but strongly coupled problem parts

Macro elements – created by the elimination of inner nodes and certain circuit equations – can not only increase computation speed but with advanced use they can have many other advantages such as the significant decrease of the required computer memory in the finite element analysis of electrical machines. Macro elements allow us to divide the problem into smaller parts and to solve them separately while still maintaining a strong coupling between them. With the advanced use of macro elements, this fact can be utilized in several ways. A detailed explanation of several special advantages can be found in Publication 5.

8.1 The structure of the system of equations with macro elements

The linearity of the stator slots allows the elimination of linear nodal and circuit variables from the system and so the creation and use of the macro elements during the nonlinear iterations. The field inside the windings has to be computed only once in each time step. A technique to create constant macro elements for the duration of the whole time stepping analysis has been presented in Chapter 7. By this method, the elimination of the unnecessary "linear" variables from the system matrix – mostly those associated with the inner nodes inside the stator slots and circuit equations corresponding with the stator conductors – has to be performed only once during a whole time stepping analysis. Equations (8.1-8.4) explain the macro element idea.

In the following description, the term "boundary variables" is understood as the variables corresponding to nodal values of the nodes and circuit variables "surrounding" the macro element regions in the mathematical sense described bellow. Similarly "inner variables" represent the variables which from the mathematical point of view are inside the macro elements. These terms are easy to understand when looking at the nodal variables. Voltages associated with the conductors inside the slots have been eliminated too for the duration of the nonlinear iterations and in this respect they can be considered "inner variables". However, due to the fact that the stator currents have remained in the analysis during the nonlinear iterations, and these currents are in connection with the eliminated voltages, the stator currents behave like

"boundary variables". *S* stands for the parts of the system matrix, which are not affected by the macro element manipulations. Vector *a* represents the variables which are unaffected by the macro elements. Vectors $b_1, b_2..., b_n$ and $i_1, i_2..., i_n$ stand for the "boundary variables" and "inner variables" respectively in macro elements number 1,2... *n*.

$$\begin{bmatrix} \boldsymbol{S} & \boldsymbol{B}_{1} & \boldsymbol{0} & \boldsymbol{B}_{2} & \boldsymbol{0} & \boldsymbol{B}_{n} & \boldsymbol{0} \\ \boldsymbol{B}_{1} & \boldsymbol{O}_{1}^{11} & \boldsymbol{O}_{1}^{12} & \boldsymbol{0} & \boldsymbol{0} & \boldsymbol{0} & \boldsymbol{0} \\ \boldsymbol{0} & \boldsymbol{O}_{1}^{21} & \boldsymbol{O}_{1}^{22} & \boldsymbol{0} & \boldsymbol{0} & \boldsymbol{0} & \boldsymbol{0} \\ \boldsymbol{B}_{2} & \boldsymbol{0} & \boldsymbol{0} & \boldsymbol{O}_{2}^{11} & \boldsymbol{O}_{2}^{12} & \boldsymbol{0} & \boldsymbol{0} \\ \boldsymbol{0} & \boldsymbol{0} & \boldsymbol{0} & \boldsymbol{O}_{2}^{21} & \boldsymbol{O}_{2}^{22} & \boldsymbol{0} & \boldsymbol{0} \\ \boldsymbol{B}_{n} & \boldsymbol{0} & \boldsymbol{0} & \boldsymbol{0} & \boldsymbol{O} & \boldsymbol{O}_{n}^{11} & \boldsymbol{O}_{n}^{12} \\ \boldsymbol{0} & \boldsymbol{0} & \boldsymbol{0} & \boldsymbol{0} & \boldsymbol{O} & \boldsymbol{O}_{n}^{11} & \boldsymbol{O}_{n}^{12} \\ \boldsymbol{0} & \boldsymbol{0} & \boldsymbol{0} & \boldsymbol{0} & \boldsymbol{O} & \boldsymbol{O} & \boldsymbol{O}_{n}^{11} & \boldsymbol{O}_{n}^{12} \\ \boldsymbol{0} & \boldsymbol{0} & \boldsymbol{0} & \boldsymbol{0} & \boldsymbol{O} & \boldsymbol{O} & \boldsymbol{O}_{n}^{11} & \boldsymbol{O}_{n}^{12} \\ \boldsymbol{0} & \boldsymbol{0} & \boldsymbol{0} & \boldsymbol{0} & \boldsymbol{O} & \boldsymbol{O} & \boldsymbol{O}_{n}^{21} & \boldsymbol{O}_{n}^{22} \\ \boldsymbol{0} & \boldsymbol{0} & \boldsymbol{0} & \boldsymbol{O} & \boldsymbol{O} & \boldsymbol{O} & \boldsymbol{O}_{n}^{11} & \boldsymbol{O}_{n}^{12} \\ \boldsymbol{0} & \boldsymbol{0} & \boldsymbol{0} & \boldsymbol{O} & \boldsymbol{O} & \boldsymbol{O} & \boldsymbol{O}_{n}^{21} & \boldsymbol{O}_{n}^{22} \\ \boldsymbol{0} & \boldsymbol{0} & \boldsymbol{0} & \boldsymbol{O} & \boldsymbol{O} & \boldsymbol{O} & \boldsymbol{O}_{n}^{21} & \boldsymbol{O}_{n}^{22} \\ \boldsymbol{0} & \boldsymbol{0} & \boldsymbol{0} & \boldsymbol{O} & \boldsymbol{O} & \boldsymbol{O} & \boldsymbol{O}_{n}^{21} & \boldsymbol{O}_{n}^{22} \\ \boldsymbol{0} & \boldsymbol{0} & \boldsymbol{0} & \boldsymbol{O} & \boldsymbol{O} & \boldsymbol{O} & \boldsymbol{O}_{n}^{21} & \boldsymbol{O}_{n}^{22} \\ \boldsymbol{0} & \boldsymbol{0} & \boldsymbol{O} & \boldsymbol{O} & \boldsymbol{O} & \boldsymbol{O} & \boldsymbol{O}_{n}^{21} & \boldsymbol{O}_{n}^{22} \\ \boldsymbol{0} & \boldsymbol{0} & \boldsymbol{O} & \boldsymbol{O} & \boldsymbol{O} & \boldsymbol{O} & \boldsymbol{O}_{n}^{21} & \boldsymbol{O}_{n}^{22} \\ \boldsymbol{0} & \boldsymbol{0} & \boldsymbol{O} & \boldsymbol{O} & \boldsymbol{O} & \boldsymbol{O} & \boldsymbol{O}_{n}^{21} & \boldsymbol{O}_{n}^{22} \\ \boldsymbol{0} & \boldsymbol{0} & \boldsymbol{O} & \boldsymbol{O} & \boldsymbol{O} & \boldsymbol{O}_{n}^{21} & \boldsymbol{O}_{n}^{22} \\ \boldsymbol{0} & \boldsymbol{O} & \boldsymbol{O} & \boldsymbol{O} & \boldsymbol{O} & \boldsymbol{O} & \boldsymbol{O}_{n}^{21} & \boldsymbol{O}_{n}^{22} \\ \boldsymbol{O} & \boldsymbol{O}_{n}^{21} & \boldsymbol{O}_{n}^{22} \\ \boldsymbol{O} & \boldsymbol{O}_{n}^{21} & \boldsymbol{O}_{n}^{22} \\ \boldsymbol{O} & \boldsymbol{O}_{n}^{21} & \boldsymbol{O}_{n}^{22} \\ \boldsymbol{O} & \boldsymbol{O}_{n}^{21} & \boldsymbol{O}_{n}^{22} \\ \boldsymbol{O} & \boldsymbol{O}_{n}^{21} & \boldsymbol{O}_{n}^{22} \\ \boldsymbol{O} & \boldsymbol{O} \\ \boldsymbol{O} & \boldsymbol{O}$$

 B_1 , B_2 , B_n stand for the matrices representing the connection between the "boundary variables" and the unaffected variables of the system. The O matrices represent the original sub-matrices in the system matrix, which are influenced by the application of the macro elements. The M matrices represent the macro element matrices after the elimination of the "inner variables" in (8.2) and can be derived as shown in (8.3).

$$\begin{bmatrix} S & B_{1} & B_{2} & B_{n} \\ B_{1} & M_{1} & 0 & 0 \\ B_{2} & 0 & M_{2} & 0 \\ B_{n} & 0 & 0 & M_{n} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} a \\ b_{1} \\ b_{2} \\ b_{n} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} r \\ r_{m1} \\ r_{m2} \\ r_{mn} \end{bmatrix}$$

$$M_{1} = O_{1}^{11} - O_{1}^{21}O_{1}^{22^{-1}}O_{1}^{12}$$

$$M_{2} = O_{2}^{11} - O_{2}^{21}O_{2}^{22^{-1}}O_{2}^{12}$$

$$M_{n} = O_{n}^{11} - O_{n}^{21}O_{n}^{22^{-1}}O_{n}^{12}$$
(8.3)

Vectors denoted by r represent the corresponding right hand side vectors. The variables r_{m1} , r_{m2} ... r_{mn} are created by the appearance of the macro elements and can be derived as shown in (8.4).
$$\boldsymbol{r}_{m1} = \boldsymbol{r}_{b1} - \boldsymbol{r}_{i1} \boldsymbol{O}_{1}^{22^{-1}} \boldsymbol{O}_{1}^{12}$$

$$\boldsymbol{r}_{m2} = \boldsymbol{r}_{b2} - \boldsymbol{r}_{i2} \boldsymbol{O}_{2}^{22^{-1}} \boldsymbol{O}_{2}^{12}$$

$$\boldsymbol{r}_{mn} = \boldsymbol{r}_{bn} - \boldsymbol{r}_{in} \boldsymbol{O}_{n}^{22^{-1}} \boldsymbol{O}_{n}^{12}$$
(8.4)

8.1.1 Recovery of variables inside the macro elements

When the nonlinear problem has been solved by iterative means the macro elements can be extracted and the "inner variables" can be recovered inside the linear macro elements in one step. The corresponding equations are in (8.5).

$$\begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ \boldsymbol{O}_{1}^{21} & \boldsymbol{O}_{1}^{22} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} \boldsymbol{b}_{1} \\ \boldsymbol{i}_{1} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} \boldsymbol{b}_{1} \\ \boldsymbol{r}_{i1} \end{bmatrix}$$
$$\begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ \boldsymbol{O}_{2}^{21} & \boldsymbol{O}_{2}^{22} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} \boldsymbol{b}_{2} \\ \boldsymbol{i}_{2} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} \boldsymbol{b}_{2} \\ \boldsymbol{r}_{i2} \end{bmatrix}$$
$$\begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ \boldsymbol{O}_{n}^{21} & \boldsymbol{O}_{n}^{22} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} \boldsymbol{b}_{n} \\ \boldsymbol{i}_{n} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} \boldsymbol{b}_{n} \\ \boldsymbol{r}_{in} \end{bmatrix}$$
(8.5)

8.1.2 One elimination of the system matrix during a whole time stepping analysis

As it was mentioned earlier, it is possible to eliminate the "inner variables" only once in a time stepping analysis. By storing $M_1, M_2...M_n$, and $O_1^{22^{-1}}O_1^{12}, O_2^{22^{-1}}O_2^{12}...O_n^{22^{-1}}O_n^{12}$, all components of (8.2) can be created without repeating the elimination of the system matrix. However, the right hand side vectors $\mathbf{r}_{m1}, \mathbf{r}_{m2}...\mathbf{r}_{mn}$ containing time dependent source vectors due to the eddy-current effect have to be eliminated once in each time step.

8.1.3 Remarks concerning the system structure and matrix inversion

If the variables and the system of equations cannot be separated into such parts as presented above then some of the advantages (or all of them) described in this chapter – resulting from the advanced use of macro elements – may vanish.

In the description of the macro elements, one might be alerted by the use of large inverted matrices. This, is however, only a representation of the method and the creation of the inverted matrices in the traditional sense is never required, only the Gauss elimination of the "inner variables".

8.1.4 Macro elements and sub-structuring

If the system of equations for an absolutely different problem – e.g. structural analysis - can be separated into similarly behaving sub-structures, the macro element approach is applicable. Sub-structuring is a well known method to replicate linear parts of the system and it is often used in structural analysis. However, the consideration of time dependent sources like eddy currents in this example – or speed dependent damping in structural analysis – is not so straightforward in the traditional sense of sub-structuring, and in most cases, such variables are not eliminated from the substructure but remain in the system as "boundary variables". The reason for this is the need to eliminate the system in every time step in order to create the time dependent right hand side vector. Using macro elements suggested in this thesis, the eliminating terms are stored and the elimination of the whole system is unnecessary. In Chapter 7, a huge difference between the computational efforts required for the elimination of the whole system and the elimination of the source vectors only, has been observed. The macro element method is superior over traditional sub-structuring because the macro elements can account for time dependent quantities during the time stepping while still avoiding the need to eliminate the whole system of equations.

8.2 Test Case

The application to demonstrate the advanced use of macro elements is a large model of a three phase high voltage electrical machine with 18 stator slots in the computed region and with 18 conductors in each slot. The computed region of the machine is presented in Fig. 1a. The appearance of the macro elements in the structure of the system matrix is shown in Fig. 1b.



Fig. 1a The geometry of the test machine. The winding region is zoomed for better view. Fig. 1b The structure of the system matrix after the inclusion of the macro elements. It is zoomed to show how the same structure repeats itself for each slot.

8.3 Reduced Memory Requirements by the Use of Advanced Macro Elements

The identical construction of the stator slots in the test machine allows us to use the same macro element in the place of all the slots. The same matrices are repeated for each slot, like if in (8.1) the O matrices with the same superscript would all be equal independently from their subscript being 1,2... n. This demonstrates clearly the reason why it is enough to use one slot to model all. Only one macro element and its connections to the boundary nodes of all the slot walls has to be stored. More significantly, the data required to store for the computation of the field inside the stator slots is also reduced to one slot data.

In one test case, the finite element mesh included 10 595 nodes and 5266 second order elements. The size of the system matrix before the application of the macro elements was 10 922x10 922 with 127 134 nonzero elements. After the application of the macro elements the necessary maximum size of the system matrix during the computation was 5270x5270 with 65 952 non-zeroes. This is about half of the original. The solver statistics show similar ratio for the maximum required storage, expressed in the numbers: 596 512 and 377 152 respectively.

The effect of the advanced use of macro elements has been discussed in details in Publication 5.

9. TEST COMPUTATIONS WITH THE MACRO ELEMENT METHOD

Effectiveness of the macro element method in time stepping analysis

In order to test the behavior of the macro element method in real life situations, two test machine structures have been studied. For both cases, several time-stepping analyses were performed with different supply voltage levels, but in all cases twice. Once without and once with the use of macro elements. The expectation was that for more non-linear cases the macro elements would be more efficient. The results discussed in this chapter have been published in Publication 6.

The test cases to evaluate the effect of the macro elements were two high voltage asynchronous machines with similar structures. The major difference between the two machines was in the number of conductors in one slot. It was 18 in the first case and 28 in the second. The rated voltage was 6000 V and the rated power 355kW. In each case, the solution sector for the machines contained 18 slots.

A startup transient was computed with different voltages. The transients produced extreme currents and losses in the first few periods of the line voltage. There were 200 time steps in one period and 800 time steps in each computation.

Computation times were measured in order to evaluate the effect of the macro elements on the computation procedure. The structure of the test machines are presented in Fig. 9.1 and 9.2. The major properties of the meshes are listed in Table 9.1.



Fig. 9.1 Structure of the first test machine with 18 conductors in each slot, 18 slots in the solution sector. Version A.



Fig. 9.2 Structure of the second test machine with 28 conductors in each slot, 18 slots in the solution sector. Version B.

Number of nodes	Machine with 18 conductors in	Machine with 28 conductors	
	stator slots	in stator slots	
In Stator winding	2916	4536	
In Rotor winding	1037	1037	
In Iron core	3446	3446	

TABLE 9.1 NUMBER OF NODES IN DIFFERENT PARTS OF THE TEST MACHINES

9.1 The results of the test computations

The numerical results when using the macro element method are identical with the results obtained by the traditional finite element formulation. Table 9.2 shows the computation times with and without the use of macro elements at different supply voltage levels and different machine versions A & B. All results are connected with start up transient computation with 200 time steps in one period and 800 total number of time steps. This means that the first four periods of the line voltage have been computed. In case A, the elimination at the beginning of each computation with macro elements took 3 minutes while in case B it took 6 minutes. The elimination is required only once for each mesh, however, to give an apples to apples comparison it is included in the values presented in Table 9.2.

TABLE 9.2 COMPUTATION TIMES AT DIFFERENT VOLTAGE LEVELS WITH AND WITHOUT THE USE OF MACRO ELEMENTS. M.E. STANDS FOR MACRO ELEMENTS. THE DIFFERENCE IS MEASURED IN MINUTES.

Version &	Computation time	Computation time	Difference
Voltage	with M.Es	without M.Es	
A 1000	1 hour 19 min	1 hour 7 min	-12
A 2000	1 hour 27 min	1 hour 25 min	-2
A 3000	1 hour 27 min	1 hour 38 min	11

A 5000	1 hour 28 min	1 hour 46 min	18
A 6000	1 hour 28 min	1 hour 51 min	23
B 6000	1 hour 42 min	1 hour 58 min	16
B 10000	1 hour 46 min	2 hours 10 min	24

The field plot at the end of the computed 800 time-step transient is shown in Fig. 9.3. It can be observed that high amount of flux penetrates the winding in the machine and crosses the conductors. This picture proves also the importance of the eddy current model in the windings.



Fig. 9.3 Field plot of test machine B at the end of the 800th step of the transient at 6000 V. The high amount of flux penetrating the slots and crossing the stator and rotor conductors can be noticed.

9.2 Discussion about the results

It has been observed that the macro element method proves to be more efficient if the number of iteration steps per time steps is higher. With the increase of the line voltage, the system became more non-linear and the number of iteration steps has been increased and so the time gain, when using macro elements.

It is interesting to notice that the efficiency of the macro element method decreased at the same voltage level for version B compared to version A. One could conclude that the increased number of conductors resulted in lower efficiency. However this kind of conclusion can not be made simply because the two machines behaved significantly differently. Due to the difference in the winding of the machines, in case of version B the iron core was less saturated than in case of version A. This means that the number of iteration steps per time steps have been lower so it is not possible to make an apples to apples comparison between such test machines. In order to compare the effect of the increased number of nodes in the stator winding, one should ensure the same average number of iteration steps per time step. The same machine A or B at the different voltage levels can be compared to evaluate the effect of the nonlinearity. In other words, the effect of the number of iteration steps (per time steps) on the effectiveness of the macro element method can be evaluated.

9.3 Conclusions

The results clearly indicate that with the increase of the nonlinear behavior and so with the increase of the average number of iterations required in each time step, the use of macro elements becomes more and more beneficial. It has been conformed for both test cases. With the use of macro elements up to 20 % gain in computation speeds could be reached in some case.

If the number of iteration steps would increase to very high values as in the case of hystresis modeling [39] – around 50-100 iteration steps per time step – then the time gain with macro elements would be more significant than in these computations with 4-10 iteration steps per time step. Macro elements promise larger improvements in computation speeds for those cases.

One would expect that with the increase of the complexity of the stator winding – like the increased number of conductors - macro elements "automatically" become also more and more efficient. This was not true for these tests, because the nonlinear behavior of the machines differed significantly due to the difference in their winding structure. The basic question in any case is; what will grow faster with the complexity, the increase of computation speed due to the reduced problem size or the computation time required for constructing the macro elements.

The macro element method has proved to be faster than the original FEM with the increase of the non-linearity. An advantage of the macro elements in these cases has surfaced again, namely the decreased memory requirements, as it has been presented in Chapter 8. These test cases have also proved that the general efficiency of the macro element method depends on several influencing factors and should be evaluated carefully.

10. CONCLUSIONS

Macro element method

In the magnetic field analysis of electrical machines, the modeling of eddy currents in multi conductor windings is a challenging and complicated task.

This work concludes that efficient and convenient time stepping analysis of electrical machines – including the modeling of eddy currents in multi conductor windings – can be made possible by the finite element method combined with a so called macro element method. This method uses the elimination of inner nodes, and the elimination of other "inner variables", in a novel way for the linear region of the multi conductor windings, to form the macro elements and to reduce problem size. The macro elements are fully represented by the eliminated linear parts of the system matrix together with the eliminating matrices of the source terms. With the special formulation of the macro element method, the time consuming elimination of the system matrix has to be performed only once in a whole time stepping analysis.

The results have shown that the suggested method gives improvement in computation speed, significantly decreases memory requirements and has several other advantages for most practical cases of multi-conductor eddy-current problems. These advantages include easy adaptation of different nonlinear models and utilization of otherwise unused computation time to create the macro elements.

This research offers techniques to pre-process, create and handle eliminated system matrices, and a method to create the eliminated right hand side vector by allowing to perform the elimination of this vector only once during a non-linear iteration process.

The study of the elimination sequence of the linear variables has concluded that by optimizing the elimination sequence, the number of operations required for the elimination can be reduced significantly. In one test case it has been reduced by a factor of 16. It is important to observe that the exponential behavior of the number of operations vs. the node number has changed to linear dependency when the elimination has been optimized. This means that larger problems only require proportionally larger amount of computation effort. Several elimination strategies have been proposed.

The advantage of the macro element method is obvious for highly nonlinear problems, where many iteration steps are required in every time step, like in the case of hysteresis modeling. Using hysteresis models the number of iteration steps per time step may be 50-100.

The most exciting feature of the macro element method is its capability to separate a large coupled problem into one nonlinear and many linear problems which can be solved separately, while still maintaining strong coupling between these separately solved regions. This feature promises huge computation time gains when combined with parallel computing techniques.

A technique called sub-structuring – used frequently in mechanical analysis – has a very similar idea to the macro element method. The major difference between the macro element technique and sub-structuring is that the regions with time varying sources and effects like eddy currents – which have been modeled by the macro element method suggested in this thesis – are generally considered "outer" regions for sub-structuring. These regions are traditionally excluded from the super element regions with sub-structuring because of similar problems experienced with the pure elimination method.

A thermal measuring method has been tested and evaluated for the separation of eddy-current losses in windings surrounded by iron, but its accuracy has been found insufficient with the available tools. A much faster measuring system would be required.

The eddy-current loss measurements performed by electrical means in the absence of iron have confirmed that the finite element model was adequate for the study of multi conductor windings.

The macro element method has been developed and tailored to suit the finite element analysis of multi-conductor eddy-current problems in rotating electrical machines, but it can be adapted for similar problems in other fields of science.

REFERENCES

- Ahmed T. M., "H-formulation boundary-element method analysis for skin and proximity effect eddy-current problems", Journal of Applied Physics 67 (1990) 9, pp. 4720-4722
- [2] Andersen O. W., "Finite element solution of skin effect and eddy current problems," Presented at the IEEE Summer Power Meeting, July 1977, Mexico City, Mexico, Paper A776616-6
- [3] Arkkio A.,., "Finite element analysis of cage induction motors fed by static frequency converters." IEEE Transaction on Magnetics Vol. 26 (1990) 2, pp. 551-554
- [4] Arkkio A., "Analysis of Induction Motors Based on the Numerical Solution of the Magnetic Field and Circuit Equations", Acta Polytechnica Scandinavica Electrical Engineering Series, No. 59, Helsinki 1987, 97 p.
- [5] Autier V., Cheny C., Kauffmann J. M., "Evaluation of Additional Copper Losses in Induction Motors by a Coupled Magneto Thermal Computation", ICEM'96, International Conference on Electrical Machines 10 - 12 September 1996 Vigo - Spain, Vol. 1., pp. 349-353
- [6] Ball D. A., Lorch H. O., , "An Improved Thermometric Method for Measuring Local Power Dissipation", J. Sci. Instrum. vol 42 (1965)
- [7] Bauer J. R., MacNeal B. E., "Finite Element Modeling of Multiturn Windings with Attached Electric Circuits", IEEE Transactions on Magnetics, vol 29 (1993) No. 2, pp. 1693-1696
- [8] Bourmanne P., Delince F., Genon A., Legros W., Nicolet A., "Skin Effect and Proximity Effect in Multiconductor Systems with Applied Currents and Voltages", Journal of Applied Physics, 69 (1991) 8, pp. 5035-5037
- [9] Carpenter C. J., "Comparison of alternative formulation of three-dimensional magnetic fie and eddy current problems," Proc. Inst. Elect. Eng., Vol. 124 (1977), pp. 66-74
- [10] Carpenter C. J., "A network approach to the numberical solution of eddy current problems," IEEE Trans., Mag., Vol. Mag-11 (1975), pp. 1517-1522
- [11] Chari M.V.K. and Z. J. Csendes, "Finite element analysis of the skin effect in current carrying conductors," IEEE Trans. Mag., Vol. Mag-13 (1977) pp. 1125-1127

- [12] Chari M. V. K., Bedrosian G., Sober T. J., Scheibel J., "Two dimensional timedomain solution of the eddy current problem in rotating electrical machinery", Journal of Applied Physics, 67 (1990) 9, pp. 4714-4716
- [13] Csendes Z. J. and Konrad A., "Electric machine modeling and power system constraints," Presented at the Conf. on Electric Power Problems: The Mathematical Challenge, 18-20 March 1980, Seattle, WA
- [14] Degenef R. C., Gutierrez M. R., Salon S. J., Burow D. W., Nevins R. J., "Kron's Reduction Method Applied to the Time Stepping Finite Element Analysis of Induction Machines" IEEE Transaction on Energy Conversion vol.10 (1995) No. 4, pp. 669-674
- [15] Demenko A., Legros W., Genon A., Nicolet A., "Finite Element Analysis of Eddy Current Loss in Electric Machine Winding Composed of Hollow and Full Copper Conductors", Conference on Electric and Magnetic Fields, 6-9 May 1996, pp. 351-356
- [16] Driesen J., Belmans R., Hameyer K., "Study of Eddy Currents in Transformer Windings caused by a Non-Linear Rectifier Load", EPNC'98 - XV.-th Symposium on Electromagnetic Phenomena in Nonlinear Circuits, 22-24 September 1998, Liege, Belgium, pp. 114-117
- [17] Field A. B., "Eddy current in large slot wound conductors." AIEE, 1905, pp. 761-788
- [18] Flack T. J., Williamson S., "Investigation of Current Flow in the Bars of Radially-Ducted Cage Rotors Using a Three Dimensional Finite Element Formulation", IEEE Transactions on Magnetics, vol 28 (1992) No. 2, pp. 1378-1381
- [19] Freeman E. M., Lowther D. A., "A Novel Mapping Technique for Open Boundary Finite Element Solutions to Poissons Equation" IEEE Transactions on Magnetics, vol 24 (1993) No. 6, pp. 2934-2937
- [20] Golias N. A., Tsiboukis T. D., "A Posteriori Adaptive Mesh Refinement in the Finite Element Eddy Current Computation", COMPEL - The international Journal for Computation and Mathematics in Electrical and Electronic Engineering, Vol. 11 (1992) No. 1, pp. 249-252
- [21] Gyimesi M., Lavers D., Pawlak T., Ostergaard D., "Impedance Boundary Condition for Multiply Connected Domains with Exterior Circuit Conditions", IEEE Transactions on Magnetics, vol 30 (1994) No. 5, pp. 3056-3059
- [22] Iseli M, Reichert K., Neidhofer G., "Calculation of Current Distribution and Stray Losses in Arbritarily Transposed Stator Coils", ICEM'88 - International

Conference on Electrical Machines, 12-14 September 1988, Pisa, Italy, vol. II, pp. 47-52

- [23] Kladas A., Razek A., "Numerical Calculation of Eddy-Currents and losses in squirrel cage induction motors due to supply harmonics.", ICEM'88 -International Conference on Electrical Machines, 12-14 September 1988, Pisa, Italy. Proceedings, vol. II, pp. 65-69
- [24] Kladas A. G., Tegopoulos, "Eddy Currents Modeling by Using Analytic Elements" COMPEL - The International Journal for Computation and Mathematics in Electrical and Electronic Engineering, vol. 13 (1994) No. 1, pp. 23-26
- [25] Konrad A., "The Numerical Solution of Steady-State Skin Effect Problems An Integrodifferential Approach", IEEE Transactions on Magnetics, Vol. 17 (1981) No. 1, pp. 1148-1152
- [26] Krawczyk A., Tegopoulos J. A., "Numerical Modelling of Eddy Currents", Clarendon Press, Oxford, 1993, 116 p.
- [27] Lammeraner J. and Stafl M., "Eddy Currents", Iliffe Books, London, 1966, 233 p.
- [28] Mayergoyz I. D., Emad F. P., "A New Method for the Calculation of Magnetic Fields in A.C. Machines" IEEE Transactions on Magnetics, vol 22 (1986) No. 5, pp. 1046-1048
- [29] Mayergoyz I. D., Bedrosian G., "On Calculation of 3-D Eddy Currents in Conducting and Magnetic Shells", IEEE Transactions on Magnetics, vol 31 (1995) No. 3, pp. 1319-1324
- [30] McWhirter J. H., Duffin R. J., Brehm P. J., and Oravec J. J., "Computational methods for solving static field and eddy current problems via Fredholm integral equations," IEEE Trans. on Magnetics, Vol. MAG-15 (1979) No. 3
- [31] Milykh V. I., "Coupled-Field Method of Solving Eddy-Current Problems in the Armature Winding of a DC Machine", Vol. 64 (1993) No. 1, pp. 15-23
- [32] Namjoshi K. V., Biringer P. P., "Multiple conductor induction problem: Analytical approach", Journal of Applied Physics, 67 (1990) 9, pp. 4732-4734
- [33] Ngnegueu Tr., Meunier G., Mailhot M., "2D Finite Element and Analytic Calculation of Eddy Current Losses in Thin Linear Conductors", Journal of Applied Physics, 67 (1990) 9, pp. 4726-4728
- [34] Pham T. H., Salon S. J., Hoole S. R. H., "Shape Optimization of Windings for Minimum Losses", IEEE. Transactions on Magnetics, vol 32 (1996) No. 5, pp. 4287-4289

- [35] Ren Z., Bouillault F, Razek A., Bossavit A, Verite J. C., "A new Hybrid Model Using Electric Field Formulation for 3-D Eddy Current Problems", IEEE Transactions on Magnetics, vol 26 (1990) No. 2, pp. 470-473
- [36] Rucker W. M., Richter K. R., "A BEM Code for 3-D Eddy Current Calculations", IEEE Transactions on Magnetics, vol 26 (1990) No. 2, pp. 462-465
- [37] Rucker W. M., K. R. Richter, "Calculation of Two-Dimensional Eddy Current Problems With the Boundary Element Method" IEEE Transactions on Magnetics Vol. 22 (1983) No. 5, pp. 1060-1062
- [38] Reichert K., Skoczylas J., Tarnhuvud T., "Eddy Current Calculations in Electrical Machines; Numerical Solution Technique and Accuracy Problems", ICEM'88 - International Conference on Electrical Machines, 12-14 September 1988, Pisa, Italy. Proceedings, vol. II, pp. 59-64
- [39] Saitz J., Szûcs Á., "Combination of fixed-point technique and Newton-Raphson method for magnetic field problems with hysteresis", Workshop on Electric and Magnetic Fields, 12-15 May 1998, Marseille, France
- [40] Saitz, J., Arkkio, A. and Szûcs, Á., "Calculation of hysteresis losses by the Preisach model within finite element analysis." Proceedings of SPEEDAM'96, 5–7 June 1996, Capri, Italy, pp. C1 27 – 31.
- [41] Saitz, J., Arkkio, A. and Szûcs, Á., "Calculation of hysteresis losses by the Preisach model within finite element analysis." Proceedings of the Nordic Research Symposium on Energy Efficient Electric Motors and Drives, 12–16 August 1996, Skagen, Denmark, pp. 247–249.
- [42] Salon J. S., Ovacik L., "Finite Element Calculation of Harmonic Losses in AC Machine Windings" IEEE Transaction on Magnetics Vol. 29 (1990) No. 2, pp. 1442-1445
- [43] Salon S. J., Schneider M., "A Comparison of Boundary Integral and Finite Element Formulations of Eddy Current Problem", IEEE Transactions on Power Apparatus and Systems, vol. PAS-100 (1981) No. 4, pp. 1473-1479
- [44] Sfaxi M., Bouillault F., Gabsi M., Rialland J.F., 1998, "Numerical Method for Determining the Stray Losses of Conductors in Armature Slots", ICEM'98 -International Conference on Electrical Machines, Sept. 2-4. 1998, Istambul, Turkey, pp. 1815-1820
- [45] Silvester P., "Modern Electromagnetic Fields", Prentice-Hall, Englewood Cliffs, NJ, 1968

- [46] Silvester P. and Haslam C.R.S., "Magnetoelluric:modelling by the finite element method," Geophys. Prospecting, Vol. (1972) pp. 872-891
- [47] Silvester P., Konrad A., Coulomb J. L., and Sabonnadiere J. C., "Modal network representation of slot-embedded conductors," Elec. Machines Electro-Mech., Vol. 1 (1977) pp. 107-122
- [48] Silvester P., "Modal network theory of skin effect in flat conductors," Proc. IEEE, Vol. 54 (1966) pp. 1147-1151
- [49] Silvester P., "Skin effect in Multiple and polyphase conductors," Presented at the IEEE Winter Power Meeting, New York, Jan. 28 - Feb. 2 1968, Paper 68TP22 PWR.
- [50] Silvester P., "AC resistance and reactance of isolated rectangular conductors," IEEE Trans. Power, App. Syst., Vol. PAS-86 (1967) pp. 770-774
- [51] Stoll R. L., "The Analysis of Eddy Currents", Clarendon Press, Oxford, 1974, 128 p.
- [52] Sturgess J. P., "Two Dimensional Finite Element Modelling of Eddy Current Problems - The Effect of Circuit Connection", ICEM'96, International Conference on Electrical Machines, 15-17 September 1992, Manchester, UK, Vol. 2, pp. 450-452
- [53] Szûcs Á., Arkkio A., 1998, "Contribution to the Finite Element Analysis of Eddy Currents in Multi-Conductor Windings Surrounded by Magnetically Non-Linear Media", EPNC'98 - XV.-th Symposium on Electromagnetic Phenomena in Nonlinear Circuits, 22-24 September 1998, Liege, Belgium, pp. 89-91
- [54] Szûcs Á., Arkkio A., "A New Technique for the Consideration of Eddy Currents in Multi Conductor Windings Using the Finite Element Method", IEEE CEFC'98 - The Eighth Biennial IEEE Conference on Electromagnetic Field Computation, 1-3 June 1998, Tucson Arizona, USA, pp. 69,
- [55] Szûcs Á., Arkkio A., 1998, "Newton Raphson Iteration Using the Finite Element Method and the Elimination of Inner Nodes for the Consideration of Eddy Currents in Multi Conductor Windings", IEEE CEFC'98 - The Eighth Biennial IEEE Conference on Electromagnetic Field Computation, 1-3 June 1998, Tucson Arizona, USA, pp. 70
- [56] Szûcs, Á., Arkkio, A., Palko, S., Saitz, J. and Yatchev, I., "Study of electrical machines, using a new interactive finite element preprocessor", Proceedings of PEMC'96, 2 – 4 September 1996, Budapest, Hungary, Vol. 2, pp. 273 – 277

- [57] Szûcs, Á., Arkkio, A., Palko, S., Saitz, J. and Yatchev, I., "Study of electrical machines, using a new interactive finite element preprocessor. Proceedings of the Nordic Research Symposium on Energy Efficient Electric Motors and Drives", 12 – 16 August 1996, Skagen, Denmark, pp. 242 – 246
- [58] Szûcs, Á., Palko, S., Arkkio, A. and Saitz, J., "Investigation of electrical machines by using a new interactive finite element preprocessor in Unix X-Window environment.", Proceedings of SPEEDAM'96, 5 – 7 June 1996, Capri, Italy, pp. A2 7 – 12
- [59] Tanaka M., Tsuboi H., Kobayashi F., Misaki T., "Transient Eddy Current Analysis by the Boundary Element Method Using Fourier Transforms", IEEE Transactions on Magnetics, Vol 29 (1993) No. 2, pp. 1722-1725
- [60] Trowbridge C. W., "Applications of integral equation methods for the numerical solution of magnetostatic and eddy currents problems", Proceedings of International Conference on Numerical Methods in Electrical and Magnetic Field Problems, 1976, Santa Margherita, Italy
- [61] Tsukerman I. A., Konrad A., J. D. Lavers, "A Method for Circuit Connections in Time-Dependent Eddy Current Problems" IEEE Transactions on Magnetics, Vol. 28 (1992) No. 2, pp. 1299-302.
- [62] Tsukerman I. A., Konrad A., Meunier G., Sabonnadiere J. C., "Coupled Field-Circuit Problems: Trends and Accomplishments", IEEE Transactions on Magnetics, Vol 29 (1993) No. 2, pp. 1701-1704
- [63] Tsukerman I. A., Konrad A., Bedrosian G., Chari M. V. K., "A survey of Numerical Methods for Transient Eddy Current Problems" IEEE Transactions on Magnetics, Vol 29 (1993) No. 2, pp. 1711-1716
- [64] Weiss, J and Csendes Z., "A one step finite element method for multiconductor skin effect problems", IEEE Transactions on Power Apparatus and Systems, Vol. 101 (1982) pp. 3796-3803
- [65] Weiss J. and Csendes Z. J., "Finite element solution of eddy currents in asynchronous generator rotors," International Conference on Electrical Machines, September 1980, Athens, Greece
- [66] Weeber K., 1998, "Design of Amortisseur windings of Single-Phase Synchronous Generators Using Time-Stepping Finite Element Simulations" ICEM'98 - International Conference on Electrical Machines, 2-4 Sept. 1998, Istambul, Turkey, Vol. II, pp. 1042-1047
- [67] Wong, C.-C., "An improved network model for eddy current problems." Applied Computational Electromagnetics Society Journal, Vol. 9 (1994) pp. 74-82

- [68] Yamashita H., Cingoski V., "The Hopfield Neural Network and its Application for Direct Solution and Inverse Optimization in Finite Element Analysis", Periodica Polytechnica Ser. El. Eng., Vol 38, No 3, pp. 221-238
- [69] Yatchev I., Arkkio A., Niemenmaa A., "Eddy-current losses in the stator winding of cage induction motors", Helsinki University of Technology, Laboratory of Electromechanics, Report 47, Espoo 1995, 34 p.
- [70] Yuferev S. V., Yuferev V. S., "Diffusion of the electromagnetic field in systems of parallel conductors of arbitrary cylindrical shape on passage of short current pulses", Sov. Phys., Tech., Phys., 36 (1991) 11, Translated by the American Institute of Physics in 1992
- [71] Yuferev S. V., Yuferev V. S., "New quasi-three-dimensional integro-differential formulation of the method of boundary integral equations for the calculation of the skin effect and eddy currents in parallel conductors", Tech. Phys., 39 (1994) 1, Translated by the American Institute of Physics in 1994
- [72] Zhou Pei-Bai, J.D. Leavers, "High Frequency Losses in Multi-Turn Coils Using a Boundary Element Model" IEEE Transactions on Magnetics Vol. 22 (1986) No. 5, pp. 1060-1062
- [73] Zhou Pei-Bai, J.D. Leavers, "BEM for Solving Nonlinear Eddy Current Problems in Multi-Conductors" IEEE Transactions on Magnetics Vol. 22 (1991) No. 5, pp. 4126-4128

PUBLICATIONS

- 1. Szûcs, Á., Arkkio, A., Palko, S., Saitz, J. and Yatchev, I. 1996. Study of electrical machines, using a new interactive finite element preprocessor. Proceedings of PEMC'96, Budapest, Hungary, 2 4 September 1996, Vol. 2, pp. 273 277.
- Áron Szûcs, Antero Arkkio, 1999 Consideration of Eddy Currents in Multi-Conductor Windings Using the Finite Element Method and the Elimination of Inner Nodes, IEEE Transactions on Magnetics, Volume 35, Number 3, Part I of two parts, May 1999
- 3. Áron Szûcs, Antero Arkkio, 1998 Newton Raphson Iteration Using the Finite Element Method and the Elimination of Inner Nodes for the Consideration of Eddy-Currents in Multi-Conductor Windings at IEEE CEFC'98 The Eighth Biennial IEEE Conference on Electromagnetic Field Computation, Tucson, Arizona, USA, June 1-3, 1998
- Áron Szûcs, 2000, Macro Elements In the Finite Element Analysis of Multi-Conductor Eddy-Current Problems, IEEE Transactions on Magnetics, Volume 36, Number 4, July 2000
- 5. Áron Szûcs, 2000, Advanced Utilization of Macro Elements that Replace the Multi-Conductor Windings in the Finite Element Analysis of Rotating Electrical Machines, Laboratory Report, No. 66, 12 p, 2001, Helsinki University of Technology, Laboratory of Electromechanics
- Áron Szûcs, Antero Arkkio, Tapani Jokinen, 2000, Modeling of Eddy Currents in the Stator Winding of Asynchronous Machines Using Macro Elements at ICEM 2000 Proceedings of the International Conference on Electrical Machines, Helsinki, Finland, August 28-30, 2000